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Our Mandate

Our mandate is to facilitate access to 
financing for market-based housing 
in First Nations communities. We help 
create the capacity in First Nations 
communities to support and sustain 
market-based housing programs, 
thereby contributing to the social 
welfare and civic improvement of First 
Nations communities and their residents. 
Our overarching goal is to promote a 
system in which First Nations residents 
have the same housing opportunities 
on communally held lands – be they 
reserve, settlement or lands set aside – 
as other Canadians have in communities 
across the country.

Our Vision

As we focus on increasing the 
opportunities for on-reserve market-
based home ownership, our vision is 
that: Every First Nation family has the 
opportunity to have a home on their 
own land in a strong community.

2  |  OUR MESSAGE & MANDATE

On the cover:

Shawnrae Gabriel, Brandy McCallum 
with their dog Kenora outside their 
Fund-backed home at Seabird Island, 
British Columbia

Chief Joe Ladouceur and Council  
host their homecoming celebration  
at Bingwi Neyaashi Anishinaabek  
in Ontario

Fire Chief Maurice Napash of the 
Chisasibi Fire Department with students 
and JIBC evaluators in Quebec

Chief Andrea Paul and representatives  
of Pictou Landing First Nation,  
Nova Scotia at the Fund’s booth during 
the AFN AGA held in Fredericton,  
New Brunswick

Trustees and staff visit the Boy Chief 
Trading Post owners with Elder Gerald 
Sitting Eagle at Siksika, Alberta

Councillor Guy Laloche of the Conseil 
des Atikamekw de Wemotaci hosted  
a tour of Wemotaci in Quebec 
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Message from  
the Chairperson  
of the Trustees
2019 was a watershed year for  
the Fund.  
 
Acting on the Trustees’ recommendations, the Government 
of Canada enacted a significant governance change to 
ensure that the First Nations Market Housing Fund’s Board 
of Trustees will now be totally composed of First Nations 
citizens. While the process was not fully completed by year 
end, we were fortunate to welcome the first three new faces 
to our table.

We believe this is one step toward First Nations care and 
control of the Fund, as contemplated in the Fund’s Indenture 
of Trust and represents a milestone in the ongoing pursuit 
for real indigenous self-governance. As we pass the torch 
to new Trustees, we are confident that they inherit a vibrant 
professional organization with a strong track record which 
has earned the confidence of communities across Canada. 
We know the Fund is being received by solid hands.

The new Trustees will build on the outgoing Trustees’ work 
and with First Nations across Canada rebuild a housing 
legacy which includes strong governance and financial 
management anchoring more and more successful 
communities.

A home is where you raise a family, formulate and realize 
your dreams and through ownership forge a path to 
wealth and financial stability. The Fund is also stimulating 
community building-blocks by promoting financial literacy 
and systems that sustain homeowners. Its outcomes are 
a better standard of living for Indigenous Canadians, a 
stronger public service and an emerging middle-class 
anxious to control their own destiny. 
 

MESSAGE FROM THE CHAIRPERSON OF THE TRUSTEES

Trustees and staff have witnessed so many achievements 
at the leadership, community and individual levels. Support 
provided by the Fund has helped to expand market-based 
housing opportunities and empower First Nations citizens.

Budget 2019 continued advancing reconciliation with 
Indigenous Peoples and forging a new relationship based on 
recognition of rights, respect, cooperation and partnership. 
In the Speech from the Throne on December 5, 2019, the 
newly re-elected Government reaffirmed walking the road 
of reconciliation as a core priority.

Enabling self-sufficiency and wealth creation is at the core 
of reconciliation. Every single person in Canada deserves 
a real and fair chance at success – and that must include 
Indigenous people.

It has been rewarding to see the notion of market-based 
housing take root in our communities. I am very proud of 
the work of the founding Trustees, the Fund’s capable and 
committed staff and the increasing numbers of people 
committing to market-based housing.

I look forward to the next stage of our collective journey.

John Beaucage

REBUILDING LEGACIES  ANNUAL REPORT 2019
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Message from 
the Executive  
Director

      MESSAGE FROM THE EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

I must begin by thanking the 
founding Trustees for their  
unwavering commitment to  
the Fund. 

Their enthusiasm and commitment to our products and 
services is what drives me and our outstanding staff in 
the work we do every day to serve First Nations across 
the country.

I am pleased to welcome the three new Trustees who 
joined the Board in late 2019. They are bringing new 
ideas and perspectives, a renewed energy level, and 
their valuable experience as community leaders, each 
in their own right. We look forward to their direction 
and support as we broaden our success and rebuild a 
housing legacy.

In 2019, the Fund was focused on addressing the 
challenges of capacity building for sustainable 
homeownership within First Nations communities 
and implementing new approaches to reform and 
strengthen the Fund’s governance and service delivery.

The Fund acted upon its 2017-18 research partnership 
with Deakin University that identified the critical 
elements needed in First Nations communities to 
sustain successful on reserve homeownership. The Fund 
also implemented findings from the 2018 regional 
engagement sessions that were undertaken to align 
market-based homeownership with the ongoing local 
and national reforms of First Nations housing.

Initiatives that have been adopted include the establishment 
of more touchpoints after a First Nation’s application 
is received, planning for more formalized regional 
consultations and increasing homeownership and personal 
finance sessions for citizens earlier in the process.

This work has strengthened the Fund’s collaboration with 
its 255 First Nations partners and furthered the broader 
objectives for First Nations care, control and management 
of housing and infrastructure. Plans are underway to 
reengage with communities to report back on the outcomes 
of the 2018 engagement and to identify ways to further 
strengthen our systems and practices.

Market-based housing represents a transformative change. 
The infrastructure and housing challenges facing First 
Nations are immense. There are no easy solutions or quick 
fixes, but with hard work, collaboration and time, we are 
making a difference.

The long and courageous nine-year journey of Bingwi 
Neyaashi Anishinaabek (BNA) to homeownership 
highlighted in this year’s annual report illustrates the 
outcomes that can be achieved with a focused commitment 
and years of hard work by leadership, staff and citizens.

The Fund is working with each community, as with BNA, to 
rebuild a legacy of homeownership. Together we are getting 
closer to realizing our vision for every First Nation family to 
have the opportunity to have a home on their own land in a 
strong community.

Deborah Taylor

Message from the 
Director, Finance 
and Administration
As Director, Finance and  
Administration, I am pleased to 
share some of the highlights  
from 2019.

The need to support capacity development puts renewed 
pressure on the Fund to monitor and take action to improve 
its investment management performance. In December 
2018, after several attempts to make improvements to 
its Statement of Investment Policy (SIP), the Fund finally 
received approval to include corporate bonds in its 
portfolio of investments. Although this change allowed for 
incremental improvements to its investment returns, the 
Trustees continue to push for further improvements to its 
SIP. Another big change in 2019 was the opportunity to hire 
a search firm to assist in the selection of new investment 
managers with the goal of having the new arrangements in 
place by April 1, 2020.

The Fund’s Capacity Development Program focuses on 
Financial Management; Good Governance; and Community 
Commitment. It was designed to help address the gaps that 
exist in some communities. To establish credibility with our 
First Nations clients, the Fund sets high standards for itself. 
Our committed and professional staff carefully maintain 
appropriate operations, systems and related internal controls 
to ensure our financial information is reliable, our assets 
are safeguarded, transactions are properly authorized, and 
resources are managed efficiently and economically.

At the operational level, Fund staff and management 
have been working to build ‘internal’ capacity in areas 
that will help the Fund respond to emerging risks 
and opportunities. In 2019, staff attended numerous 
professional development and training workshops in areas 
such as privacy protection, cyber-security, fraud prevention, 
HST and tax compliance, internal audit, COSO standards, 
and ethics. In 2019, we sent a large contingent of staff 
to the AFOA national conference in Saskatoon. This event 
has proven to be an excellent venue for our staff to learn 
about emerging issues faced by First Nations financial 
managers, as well as to connect with our clients.

Additional initiatives undertaken by the Fund in 2019 
include an IT Security Reassessment, development of 
an Information and Privacy Protection Policy, applying 
to join the Canadian Cyber Threat Exchange (CCTX), 
researching and developing new procedures on our 
treatment of HST and GST, making improvements to our 
Emergency Preparedness Plan and our Business Continuity 
Plan, updating our telephone systems, and updating our 
computer hardware.

For 2020, we look forward to expanding the capacity of 
the Fund, even further.

Travis Seymour
CPA, CGA, MBA, CAFM
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There are three pillars within the Fund’s Capacity 
Development Program: Financial Management; Good 
Governance; and Community Commitment (and evidence of 
demand for market-based housing).

All three pillars are intertwined; success in one area 
supports growth in the others. Strong capacity development 
initiatives in the areas of finance and governance for 
instance, support overall community development while 
fostering a positive environment for the implementation and 
sustainability of a strong market-based housing system.

        2019 HIGHLIGHTS

Capacity Development Pillars

SK
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Number of First Nations  
Participating in CD by Activity*

Number of People Trained*

CD Activity by Recipient Type*

2019  
Highlights
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216  

First Nations Market Housing 
Fund partners approved for credit 
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capacity development  
initiatives

$23.3 
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foundation for success in First 
Nations communities
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First Nations Market  
Housing Fund
 
The Fund is the first national fund created to support financing 
arrangements for housing on reserve and settlement lands – it 
supports market-based housing on reserve by providing easier 
access to homeownership, rental and renovation loans in First 
Nations communities.

$989
million in potential credit 
approved to support an  
estimated 6,750 homes

12  
lenders

354  
Fund-backed 
home loans

*AT DECEMBER 31, 2019
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External Environment
 
Each day across Canada hundreds of home real estate 
transactions transpire. The infrastructure, systems, 
laws and supports are enshrined in the fabric of 
this country to guide and protect both buyers and 
sellers. Housing related infrastructure such as water, 
electricity, roads, sewer systems and legally defined 
lots are commonplace. Land registry systems ensure 
title to a property, real estate professionals, solicitors 
and banking institutions are well versed and equipped 
to educate home buyers through the process of 
purchasing a home, including credit counselling.   

 
Family members, friends and coworkers can be 
called upon to provide advice, assistance or a referral 
to a professional who can assist in preparing for 
purchasing or selling a home. Federal, provincial and 
municipal standards are in place to ensure homes are 
built and/or renovated properly to protect a home 
buyer’s investment. For the most part, these typical 
market-based homeownership services and supports 
do not exist on reserve.  

The brainchild of the Kelowna Accord process, the 
Fund was inspired by the need to find creative ways 
to deal with the on-reserve housing crisis. There 
were too few homes for the number of people, 
and some were in unlivable condition. The idea 
was to see, if given the tools and the opportunity, 
people living on reserve, on settlement lands and 
on lands set aside, would work with a new partner 
to solve their housing problems.  The Fund was one 
piece of the solution emanating from Kelowna, the 
others being a shallow subsidy and a deep subsidy 
program. The Fund was never intended to solve all 
the housing issues, nor can it.  There is a continuum 
of housing needs that will always be present in every 
community. The Fund is meant to tackle a portion 
of the need and demand using a creative financing 
instrument supported by capacity development. The 
purpose of the Fund is to support individuals who 
can afford a mortgage to finance the purchase or 
build a house in order to create sustained economic 
growth and free up subsidized housing for those in 
greatest need. 

The Trustees and staff know that there is still 
much work to be accomplished in building the 
foundation of knowledge and systems through which 
individuals, families, communities, Councils and 
financial institutions can participate in market-based 
housing in First Nations communities. The supports 
to develop, implement, educate and sustain a 
market-based housing system are taking time and a 
prolonged dedicated effort, before sustained market-
based housing opportunities fully develop.  
 

To support this change, the Fund works with 
each First Nations partner at their own pace 
to introduce, prepare for, and implement each 
phase to build a sustainable market-based 
housing option in their community. Many 
years of effort by the Fund and the partnering 
community is often required before one home 
can be built. As of December 31, 2019, the 
Fund had approved almost $1 billion in credit – 
enough to finance approximately 6,750 home 
loans in 118 First Nations communities. The 
creation of the basic foundational blocks for 
market-housing in each First Nation represents 
a transformative change, and progress is being 
made. Working with First Nations to qualify 
their members for home loans that unlock this 
credit continues to be a key challenge.   

It is to be noted that the impact of the Fund on 
improving life in First Nations communities cannot 
be simply quantified.  There is no obligation for a 
First Nation working with the Fund to use Fund-
backed financing. For example, there have been 
instances where the Fund provided capacity 
development funding for lot surveys for market-
based housing, various policies, staff training and 
community education sessions, but then private 
financing was put in place. When this occurs, the 
Fund’s attribution in providing the community with 
a positive impact in respect to changes in attitudes 
and approaches to market-based housing cannot be 
measured in terms of Fund-backed housing loans. 
The Fund’s impact to the community well-being is 
just as important as the number of loans and units 
backed by the Fund. This empowerment is important 
for First Nations communities. 

0%     20%          40%                 60%    80%         100%

Yukon & NWT

B.C.

Alberta

Saskatchewan

Manitoba

Ontario

Quebec

Atlantic

National Summary –  
Fund-backed Loans*

Fund-backed Loans

Available Loan Space

Outreach – Cree Nation of Mistissini

To address the challenge of building capacity for 
homeownership within First Nations communities, 
the Fund identified new approaches that reform 
and strengthen its governance and service delivery.  
These new approaches stem from the Fund’s 2017-18 
partnership with Deakin University to lead a research 
project exploring the critical elements needed in First 
Nations communities to sustain a successful on-
reserve homeownership approach. A series of regional 
engagement sessions in 2018 undertook to secure 
leadership and participants’ input into the approach, 
ensuring that market-based homeownership and the 
Fund are part of the ongoing reform of federal housing 
initiatives related to First Nations.  
 
Initiatives such as establishing more touchpoints after 
a First Nation’s application is received, conducting 
ongoing regional sessions, and supporting additional 
homeownership and personal finance sessions for 
citizens will build on the Fund’s partnership with 40% 
of First Nations across the country. The move toward 
a long-term approach will support First Nations care, 
control and management of housing and infrastructure. 
Unlocking the credit available in the Fund will have an 
incredible impact on closing the housing gap for those 
seeking access to financing for homeownership within 
partnering communities.  
  

        2019 - A YEAR IN REVIEW

2019 – A Year  
in Review
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Budget 2019 proposed significant investments to 
advance priorities identified by First Nations including:  

• funding to forgive and reimburse all 
 comprehensive claim negotiation loans,  
 which will allow communities to reinvest  
 in their priorities;  

• $1.2 billion over three years to continue to  
 implement Jordan’s Principle and help ensure  
 that all First Nations children can access the  
 health, social and educational services they  
 need, when they need them;  

• $327.5 million over five years to enhance the  
 Post-Secondary Student Support Program while  
 the Government engages with First Nations on  
 long-term First Nation-led post-secondary  
 education models; 

• more than $1 billion over five years to  
 improve essential services on-reserve, such  
 as clean drinking water, fire protection,  
 emergency response and supports for residents  
 with disabilities or chronic illnesses;  

• support for a distinctions-based approach to  
 Indigenous language revitalization projects  

        2019 - A YEAR IN REVIEW

 with $333.7 million over five years and $115.7  
 million ongoing to preserve, promote and  
 revitalize Indigenous languages, including First  
 Nations languages;  
 
• $40.0 million over five years to help First 
 Nations research and develop their Specific  
 Claims and a commitment to renew and  
 replenish funding for the Specific Claims  
 Settlement Fund for a further three years; 
 
• support for strong and successful self- 
 governing First Nations including investments  
 to support a new co-developed collaborative  
 self-government fiscal policy;  
 
• a commitment to escalate funding for core  
 programs and services provided through the  
 1-year grant to ensure that funding keeps up  
 with key cost drivers effective April 2020; and  
 
• up to $100 million to establish an Indigenous  
 Growth Fund to further encourage investments  
 in Indigenous-led businesses by Aboriginal  
 Financial Institutions, including for First Nations  
 entrepreneurs.  

In the Speech from the Throne on December 5, 2019, 
the newly re-elected Government reaffirmed that its 
reconciliation with Indigenous people remained a 
core priority and that it will continue to move forward 
as a partner on the journey of reconciliation. The 
Government committed to:  

The Government of Canada’s agenda supports 
opportunities for Indigenous Peoples to get ahead.  
Enabling self-sufficiency and wealth creation, as well 
as better health are key thrusts.   

Every single person in Canada  
deserves a real and fair chance at  
success – and that must include  
Indigenous people1. 
 
 

2019 – A Year  
in Review

• take action to co-develop and introduce legislation  
 to implement the United Nations Declaration on the  
 Rights of Indigenous Peoples in the first year of the  
 new mandate;  
 

• continue the work of eliminating all long-term  
 drinking water advisories on reserve by 2021, and 

  ensure safe drinking water in First Nations communities;  
 

• co-develop new legislation to ensure that Indigenous  
 people have access to high-quality, culturally  
 relevant health care and mental health services;  

• continue to work to implement the Truth and   
 Reconciliation Commission’s Calls to Action, and  
 the National Inquiry into Missing and Murdered  
 Indigenous Women and Girls’ Calls for Justice, in  
 partnership with First Nations, Inuit, and Métis peoples;

• work with Indigenous communities to close the  
 infrastructure gap by 2030;  
 
• continue to move forward together to ensure that  
 Indigenous Peoples are in control of their own destiny 
  and making decisions about their communities;  
 
• take new steps to ensure the Government is living  
 up to the spirit and intent of treaties, agreements,  
 and other constructive arrangements made with  
 Indigenous Peoples;  
 
• ensure that Indigenous people who were harmed  
 under the discriminatory child welfare system are  
 compensated in a way that is both fair and timely; and   

• continue to invest in Indigenous priorities, in  
 collaboration with Indigenous partners. 

Budget 2019 continued advancing 
reconciliation with Indigenous Peoples 
and forged a new relationship based 
on recognition of rights, respect, 
cooperation and partnership. 

The Fund’s programs and services align with the 
Government’s determination to advance reconciliation 
with Indigenous Peoples, to better respond to their 
priorities, and better support their plans for self-
governance, self-determination, and their ongoing 
work of nation building. The Fund is committed to 
working with its First Nations partners to build a 
successful and sustainable housing market. Market-
based housing is and will have a strong positive 
effect, strengthening the quality of life for families 
while providing economic opportunities.     

1SPEECH FROM THE THRONE – DECEMBER 5, 2019
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The success of the Fund and its  
partnering First Nations will 
contribute to rebuilding a housing 
legacy on reserve.  

        THE FUND IN ACTION

   
In April 2019, the Fund held its annual strategic 
planning session. The session was designed to invoke 
a well-rounded perspective for the Trustees to take 
stock of the current environment, including the 
preparation for new Trustees. It recast the Fund’s 
strategic direction for the next five years and considers 
that the distinctions-based First Nations component 
of the National Housing Strategy is not in place to 
inform the Fund’s focus. The Trustees also considered 
the Fund’s strategic direction beyond the next five 
years and include the lead up to the reconstitution of 
the Indenture of Trust in 2029. The Fund had hoped 
that new Trustees would have been appointed in time 
to attend the April strategic planning session to learn 
about the Fund and benefit from the combined 75+ 
years’ experience of the founding Trustees, to share 
their visions and to participate in setting the strategic 
direction for the next five-year period. However, when 
the appointments were not concluded, the founding 
Trustees proceeded with the strategic planning.  

“We have built something that has 
not been done anywhere. This is a 
model for housing, for a long time.”  

– GAIL SHAWBONQUIT, TRUSTEE

The outcomes of the strategic planning session resulted 
in the identification of a variety of short, medium, and 
long-term tactical interventions. The dialogue provided 
insights that emphasized the importance of:  

• Recognizing that the Fund is at a crossroads,  
 given the impending changes to the membership  
 of the Board of Trustees. Also recognizing  
 the need for the new Trustees to hit the ground  
 running, building on the base created by the  
 Fund to date. 
 
• The reality that market-based housing is  
 a transformative change. Over its initial 10+  
 years, the Fund has created a solid foundation  
 to support this transformation. This is  
 consistent with the continuing efforts of First  
 Nations to exercise self-determination in the  
 care, control and management of the housing  
 on reserve, settlement lands and urban First  
 Nations lands.  

• Acknowledging the critical need to change the  
 perceptions and ensure understanding that the  
 purpose of a self-sustaining First Nations  
 Market Housing Fund is not to provide direct  
 funding to market-based housing. Rather, its  
 actual role is to facilitate and bring together  
 the private homeowner, the lender, and the  
 First Nation, to make on-reserve housing loans  
 always available to First Nations communities.  

• Capacity-challenged governments, communities,  
 families and individuals who are being approached 
 to take financial and/or political risks in the  
 complex sector of market-based housing.  
 
• Diversity of community circumstances, changing  
 nature of housing construction and the changing  
 nature of work, require the Fund to sustain efforts  
 such as capacity building through multiple channels.  

• A continued sense of dependence even as First  
 Nations build capacity, secure settlements and  
 increase assets.  

 
• Being attentive, prepared and responsive to  
 expected cyclical changes in the environment  
 resulting from the 3-year cycle of Trustee 
 appointments, the 4-year cycle of federal elections,  
 while not losing sight that the Trust law requires  
 that the Indenture be reconstituted in 2029.  

• Setting short, medium and/or long-term  
 benchmarks for when key required policy  
 changes should be addressed. Previous Fund  
 submissions to the Government of Canada  
 have highlighted the range of efficiencies,  
 adjustments and mandate changes involved  
 in addressing such matters as: improving the  
 Statement of Investment Policy; adjusting  
 the capacity development funding formula;  
 and, supporting Fund-backed loans for  
 market-based housing related infrastructure. 
 
• Continuing to explore program adaptations  
 such as pilot projects.  
 
• Ongoing organizational development to keep  
 pace with the growing success of the Fund,  
 support both the Fund’s and First Nations’  
 efforts to increase self-determination over  
 the care, control and management of housing,  
 and other changes in the Fund’s working  
 environment (e.g. succession planning, cyber- 
 security, etc.).  

The Fund  
in Action
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“What we have been doing has been 
validated by the regional sessions. 
Endorsed by leadership.”  

– RUTH WILLIAMS, VICE-CHAIRPERSON   
 

In October 2018, the Government of Canada initiated 
a Notice of Opportunity to seek qualified individuals 
for appointment as Trustees to the Fund. The remaining 
six founding Trustees were instrumental in securing a 
commitment from the Government that all incoming 
Trustees be First Nations citizens. They also developed 
the criteria calling for Trustees that are solution driven 
visionaries with credentials and competencies in First 
Nations housing, finance and investment, governance 
and organizational development.  
 
Prior to the federal election being called, three new 
Trustees were appointed to the Fund; steps were taken 
to bring the three new Trustees onboard following 
the election.  Those three new Trustees were provided 
with a small window in which to review the work of 
the founding Trustees and confirm the directions for 
the upcoming five-year period. It is anticipated that as 
more Trustees are appointed in the new year, they will 
work with the current Trustees to determine more and 
different ways in which the Fund can continue to have 
positive impacts.  

REBUILDING LEGACIES  ANNUAL REPORT 2019

        THE FUND IN ACTION

19

Right: Sal Guatieri, Director and 
Senior Economist, BMO, provided 
a global economic outlook at the 
strategic planning session.

Right:  Harold Tarbell (Akwesasne 
Mohawk), Tarbell Facilitation 
Network, facilitated the strategic 
planning session.
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The Fund will continue to have 
a powerful impact in rebuilding 
a housing legacy in First Nations 
communities.  
 
Trustees and staff can bear witness to the many 
milestones achieved at the leadership, community and 
individual levels. Support provided by the Fund has 
helped First Nations communities in each vital step 
taken to expand market-based housing.  Throughout 
the Annual Report, stories of how the Fund’s work has 
made an impact will be shared.  
 
In the Fund’s 12th year of operation, eight additional 
First Nations chose to partner with the Fund, bringing 
the total number of First Nations partners to 255.  In 
2019, Bingwi Neyaashi Anishinaabek (Sand Point 
First Nation) chose to publicly share their long and 
courageous journey to overcome many challenges 
in their determination to embrace market-based 
housing to strengthen their community.   Their nine-
year partnership with the Fund is a true reflection of 
support and commitment to rebuilding their housing 
legacy and is highlighted under “Spreading the Word.”    

Over $989 million in potential credit for loans 
(approximately 6,750 homes) backed by the Fund 
were approved by the end of 2019.  These numbers 
continue to grow toward the Fund’s full potential 
of leveraging $3 billion in additional on-reserve 
housing investments.    

        THE FUND’S GROWING FOOTPRINT

The Fund’s  
Growing Footprint

The Fund is proud to have a total of 12 partnering 
national and regional financial institutions through 
the Fund’s Credit Enhancement program. The support 
of all lender partnerships provides more opportunities 
in underserved geographic areas for First Nations to 
establish new relationships with a financial institution 
to increase home loan options for their citizens to 
purchase, build or renovate a home in their community.    

“I believe it is critical to begin 
providing an opportunity 
for our members to live in 
their own community by 
providing rental housing 
units for those not prepared, 
able or interested in building, 
and a fair process for those 
members who want to build 
their own homes.” 
  
– CHIEF JOE LADOUCEUR 
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        CAPACITY DEVELOPMENT

Capacity  
Development
Capacity development is critical to 
build and sustain a market-based 
housing system.  
 
Without an established governance framework that 
includes laws, policies, codes, and practices that are 
clear, well understood, implemented by qualified 
people, and most importantly trusted by its citizens, 
the system will flounder.  

One must begin with the land. Is it suitable for 
housing? Will it hold what is constructed, without it 
being contaminated or unstable? Is the land spoken 
for other purposes, or is the land better suited for 
some other purpose like manufacturing or recreation, 
or should it be respected as a sacred place? Is there 
potable water? Are the key components to sustain 
housing development present? These types of elements 
require study by qualified people and a plan that 
reflects the vision of the First Nation. Capacity building 
needs met by the Fund have included land laws, land 
use plans, land allotment policies, land management 
policies and procedures, as well as several people 
trained and certified to be lands managers.  

For the laws to be developed, studied, communicated, 
voted upon and proclaimed, there must be a system 
of governance that lends itself to invite participation. 
The Fund has supported the development and passage 
of election codes and laws with communities that 
were needed to set the stage for strong governance. 
Sometimes, it has meant learning lessons from past 
and traditional forms of governance in order to move 
forward.  

 
Understanding the community’s needs as articulated 
through a comprehensive community plan can 
be a very powerful piece of governance – again 
something the Fund has supported in many 
communities. A community road map which considers 
new household formations, including birth, death and 
migration rates can help define appropriate housing 
responses that will meet their needs both now and 
into the future. 
 
Financial needs are abundant in First Nations 
communities. They extend to laws, policies, 
procedures, and people. Well beyond the cost of a 
home is its maintenance and upkeep costs. Whether 
or not a housing loan is in place, housing costs 
money, and it is simply wrong to pretend that it 
does not. Communities require those in charge 
to take care of precious financial resources. Staff 
require the proper knowledge and skillset and 
potentially appropriate professional designations 
to support a First Nation in taking their financial 
resources to the next level.  This can be especially 
challenging in smaller or more remote communities 
where access to a limited pool of expertise can be 
an issue. Developing and/or expanding economic 
opportunities to create employment for individuals 
to support their ability to take on homeowner 
responsibilities is another key to sustaining market-
based housing. These types of needs are further 
examples of capacity development support provided 
by the Fund.    

In addition to these “hard” areas of lands, housing 
and finance, there are very important ancillary 
needs to address within a community. For example, 
does the First Nation involve citizens in major 
developments; does the communication process 
work; does the First Nation Chief and Council see 
itself as an employer, respect and apply laws and 
policies to keep its employees safe.  These too are 
areas the Fund has supported in partnering with 
First Nations across the country. Each community is 
unique, and each community has its own particular 
set of needs. 

 
As a First Nation is approved for Credit Enhancement 
(CE) and moves forward to implement a home-
ownership program, there is a need to educate 
citizens on the many aspects of homeownership. 
The Fund works with two CE Specialists to deliver a 
variety of workshops to assist potential homeowners 
in understanding and navigating the housing finance 
process. During 2019, more than 772 individuals 
from 65 First Nations across the country participated 
in the following workshops:  

Outreach – Outreach sessions cover a breadth of 
topics including homeownership and increasing 
personal financial awareness. These sessions provide 
the opportunity for First Nations citizens, as a group, 
to begin thinking about homeownership and the 
possibility of market-based housing.  

Homeownership – During Homeownership sessions, 
the CE Specialists discuss the various paths to home-
ownership available to First Nations citizens through 
the Fund’s Credit Enhancement Program: Building, 
Purchasing, Renovating, or Refinancing a home.   
 
Personal Finance – During Personal Finance sessions, 
the CE Specialists present detailed information about 
budgeting and setting financial goals, understanding 
credit, managing debt, and debt servicing ratios. The 
consultants also provide information to community 
members about mortgages and the steps to buying 
their own home.    

One-on-One Session – During One-on-One sessions, 
CE Specialists sit down with community members to 
confidentially discuss their own situation and how it 
relates to qualifying for a loan under the Fund’s Credit 
Enhancement program. The CE Specialists provide 
impartial and confidential support to community 
members regarding their own affordability, ways to 
strengthen their credit worthiness, and steps they 
might choose to take to budget and save for 
homeownership.   

Scott Flamand, CE Specialist; 
Roxanne Harper, Turtle Island Associates
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#

Through these workshops and in discussion with lender 
partners, it has been the Fund’s experience that many 
individuals considering and/or applying for loans are 
not initially financially prepared. Many individuals 
must first address bruised credit issues; this can mean 
choosing to change spending patterns. Individuals 
also require time to save for their down-payment. The 
Fund’s Personal Finance and One-on-One Sessions are 
in high demand as individuals prepare to qualify to 
obtain financing for a housing loan. To address this 
demand, the Fund has been working with interested 
citizens earlier in the process and has established some 
new internal positions which will be similarly focused.  
This was a key recommendation stemming from the 
2018 regional engagement sessions.  

The Fund’s Capacity Development Program is essential 
to developing market-based housing. The breadth of 
the program is considered a key element in addressing 
the areas requiring support identified by First Nations, 
on their journey to instituting and sustaining a 
community and market-based housing system. Each 
partnership is tailored to the community’s capacity, 
challenges and opportunities; an approach validated 
through the 2018 regional engagement sessions 
and discussions with thought leadership. The Fund 
must work with every First Nation, at their own pace, 
to address their distinct housing challenges. These 
challenges vary from First Nation to First Nation, so  
the Fund provides supports that are customized to 
respond effectively.  

Martina Duffy (left), Native Education and Training College; 
staff from Mitaanjigamiing First Nation

Personal Financial Awareness 
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consultant will develop a housing strategy for 
the next five years and revise existing policies 
to align with the new strategy. This process is 
highly collaborative and relies on community 
consultation to match the needs of the First 
Nation. 

Through the Capacity Development Program, the 
Fund has supported 110 Lands and Economic 
Development initiatives with over 50 First 
Nations. This includes over 20 Land Use Plans, 
laws and by-laws.  
 
Laws and by-laws are created with the assistance 
of Fund partnering consulting firms to develop 
the planning and regulatory framework required 
to achieve market-based housing, better quality-
built homes and sustainable processes and 
systems to meet different communities’ needs, 
dependent on the land management system they 
have chosen to embrace. 

AFOA BC Conference –  
Bernice Walley, Finance Manager, Kwantlen First Nation

Number of People Trained 
in CD by Activity
(TO DECEMBER 31, 2019)

To respond to the unique needs of its First Nations 
partners, the Fund focuses on designing and accessing 
capacity development initiatives. Over 1,330 initiatives 
are now underway or completed in 142 First Nations.  
More than $23.3 million has been invested to date on 
building the foundation required to implement and/
or sustain market-based housing on communally held 
First Nations lands across Canada.  
  
Throughout the years, the Fund has supported many 
Community Workshops to strengthen the Capacity 
Development Pillar – Community Commitment. For 
example, the Fund supported a community workshop 
discussing risk management, safety and insurance, 
hosted by an insurance provider in an Ontario First 
Nation. The workshop covered topics including fire 
safety and prevention, home safety, mould prevention, 
preventing elder abuse, winter home preparation 
and other topics meant to help people reduce risks of 
harm. Participation ranging from 15 to 30+ individuals 
indicates that these types of workshops are resonating 
in these small communities. 
  
The Fund has supported 30 initiatives related to 
developing policies in Human Resources/Personnel 
Management through the Capacity Development 
Program. To support communities to implement 
Human Resources Policies, the Fund has partnered 
with legal teams to undertake the review of existing 
policies and the drafting of new, legally compliant 
Human Resources Policies approved by the First Nation. 
First Nations have also capitalized on the use of 
consultants to develop terms of reference and position 
classifications to effectively manage staff with clearly 
defined roles and responsibilities.  

Financial Management Training is an example of the 
Fund’s support related to the Capacity Development 
Pillar – Financial Management. In 2019, an Ontario 
First Nation received the Fund’s support to have a 
consultant deliver a 1-day financial management 
training session to key management staff. Topics 
related to budgeting, fixed versus variable costs, 
reading general ledgers, variance reports, budget 

adjustments and audited financial statements were 
catered to the First Nations’ needs and current levels of 
financial literacy. This training provided Program Managers 
the skills to financially manage their programs.    

Participants comments:  

“I learned how to understand 
different budgets and will apply this 
learning by working together.”  
   
“Very useful for Chief & Council, 
Committee Members, or Program 
Managers who have less financial 
experience.”   

“Good learning tool and helps me  
as the Band Administrator to assist  
and do.”  
 
Project Management Training is an example of 
initiatives the Fund has supported for the Capacity 
Development Pillar – Governance. The Fund has 
facilitated Project Management Training for 16 of 
its First Nations partners across the country.  Over 
190 individuals working in their community’s Band 
Administration have participated in this training.  
These initiatives have covered topics such as Human 
Resources and Community Management, Project Time 
and Cost, Risk Management, Quality Management, 
Procurement and Contract Management, and Project 
Implementation and Closure. 

The Fund has supported over 30 First Nations in 
developing Housing Strategies by connecting them with 
various consultants to provide support in structuring 
and planning strong housing programs. The Fund’s 
partnering consultants assist the First Nation in 
reviewing and planning for its housing operations.  
After consultation with the Chief and Council, the 

COMMUNITY

HUMAN RESOURCES

HOUSING

GOVERNANCE

FINANCE

LANDS AND ECONOMIC 
DEVELOPMENT

280

466

455

1629

1350

56
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We share the stories of some of the individuals who 
participated in capacity development initiatives during 
2019 in the Regional Report section. 
 
The First Nations Market Housing Fund wishes to 
congratulate the following 2019 Graduates who 
were supported by the Fund’s Capacity Development 
Program:  

VIU – First Nation Housing  
Manager Certificate

AFOA Canada – Certified Aboriginal  
Professional Administrator (CAPA)

AFOA Canada – Certified Aboriginal  
Finance Manager (CAFM)  

SHAWN ANDERSON

MARY (ELLIE) PENASSE LAFLEUR

SHEILA KELLY

LORY OBERST

STACY MCNEIL

CHRIS HENDERSON

ED MORRISON

SHAUNA OTTERTAIL

GRACE STRANG

DOROTHY TROUT

SHERA WESLEY

MIRANDA VIGLIOTTI

NIPISSING FIRST NATION 

NIPISSING FIRST NATION 

OJIBWAYS OF ONIGAMING 

SKWAH FIRST NATION 

SKOWKALE FIRST NATION 

MITAANJIGAMIING FIRST NATION 

MITAANJIGAMIING FIRST NATION 

MITAANJIGAMIING FIRST NATION 

LAC SEUL FIRST NATION 

LAC SEUL FIRST NATION 

LAC SEUL FIRST NATION 

KWANLIN DÜN FIRST NATION

“Ellie and I recently completed the First 
Nation Housing Manager Certificate 
program from VIU. I want to thank 
you for your continued support in 
completing this program. It had many 
interesting and useful concepts that 
strengthen our knowledge in First 
Nation housing. It has made us more 
confident in our jobs and ideas from 
the courses are being implemented 
constantly in our work.  
 
 

It was also great to be in the courses 
with other Housing associates from 
other First Nations in Canada. Some 
of these Housing departments we 
had things in common with and 
others were very different from our 
First Nation in terms of their make-
up and challenges. We learned a lot 
from these colleagues. This is a very 
key learning portion of the program, 
not just the course content.“ 

– SHAWN ANDERSON, NIPISSING FIRST NATION

Examples of the breadth of capacity development support provided by the Fund includes: 

COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT   

FINANCIAL LITERACY   

HOME MAINTENANCE AND REPAIR   

HOME OWNERSHIP 

 

AFOA COURSES    

ACCOUNTING, BUSINESS ACCOUNTING,  

    GENERAL LEDGER & FINANCIAL REPORTING TRAINING   

ACCPAC & ACCOUNTING SOFTWARE TRAINING   

ASSET MANAGEMENT TRAINING & PLANNING   

CONFERENCE ATTENDANCE   

FINANCE MANUAL DEVELOPMENT 

 

ABORIGINAL LAW & POLICY TRAINING 

ARREARS MANAGEMENT

BUSINESS WRITING 

BYLAW DEVELOPMENT 

CAPA COURSES 

CAPITAL PLANNING 

COMMUNICATIONS, WEB DESIGN,  

SOCIAL MEDIA & TOASTMASTERS TRAINING 

COMMUNITY MANAGEMENT 

COMMUNITY STRATEGIC PLAN 

COMPREHENSIVE COMMUNITY PLAN 

ELECTION CODE 

ENGINEERING STUDY 

GOVERNANCE POLICY 

IT & COMPUTER TRAINING 

 

HOUSING AUTHORITY 

HOUSING COMMITTEE TRAINING 

HOUSING CONDITION ASSESSMENT 

HOUSING INVENTORY MANAGEMENT SYSTEM 

HOUSING LEGAL REVIEW 

HOUSING MANAGER TRAINING  

 

EMPLOYMENT LAW 

HR TRAINING & WORKPLACE SAFETY 

HR/PERSONNEL MANAGEMENT & POLICY 

HUMAN RIGHTS & OCCUPATIONAL TRAINING 

 

ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT TRAINING 

ENGINEERING STUDY 

ENVIRONMENTAL PLAN, ASSESSMENT,  

    POLICY, PROGRAM 

ENVIRONMENTAL TRAINING

GIS & LANDS MANAGEMENT TRAINING 

LAND MANAGEMENT MANUAL 

LAND SURVEYS

LAND USE PLAN, LAND USE BYLAW, ZONING BYLAW

MANAGING CREDIT/DEBIT & MORTGAGES   

RENTAL & TENANCY    

CONSTRUCTION TRADES TRAINING

FINANCIAL LITERACY TRAINING   

FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT ANALYSIS   

FINANCIAL PLANNING   

FINANCIAL POLICY, BY-LAW & LAW   

HST RECOVERY TRAINING   

TRUST MANAGEMENT   

UNIVERSITY DEGREE COURSE

HOUSING POLICY

HOUSING STANDARD 

HOUSING STRATEGY 

OPERATIONAL REVIEW 

OPERATIONS, MAINTENANCE & PUBLIC WORKS 

STAFF WORKSHOP & CONFERENCE ATTENDANCE 

INTERNAL COMMUNICATIONS PLAN 

WORKPLACE INVESTIGATIONS CERTIFICATE 

LABOUR RELATIONS CERTIFICATE PROGRAM 

TEAM BUILDING

LANDS ACT, LAND TENURE, LAND CODE

LANDS REGISTRY SYSTEM 

NATIONAL ABORIGINAL LAND MANAGERS  

    ASSOCIATION CERTIFICATION 

REAL ESTATE INSTITUTE OF CANADA  

    TRAINING & CERTIFICATION 

DEVELOPMENT ON LAND MANAGEMENT  

    INFORMATION SYSTEM   

LEADERSHIP, GOVERNANCE & MANAGEMENT

MATRIMONIAL REAL PROPERTY LAW 

MEMBERSHIP CODE 

ORGANIZATIONAL REVIEW & DEVELOPMENT 

PROJECT MANAGEMENT TRAINING 

PUBLIC ADMINISTRATION TRAINING 

STAFF/MANAGEMENT DEVELOPMENT 

UNIVERSITY DEGREE COURSE 

EFFECTIVE MANAGEMENT ACT PLAN 

ETHICAL DECISION MAKING  

FIRST NATIONS SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT  

     GUIDELINE  

CREDIT ENHANCEMENT IMPLEMENTATION  

CIL COURSE / FNTI COURSE  

Community 

Finance 

Governance  

Housing &  
Infrastructure  

Human  
Resources

Lands &  
Economic  
Development 
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Regional 
Report
Atlantic 
 
Overview 
 
Forty-six percent (46%) of the First Nations in  
the Atlantic have applied to work with the Fund. 

First Nations Applied

Not Applied

46%

2019 Highlight

Early in 2019, the Atlantic Policy Congress (APC) of 
First Nations Chiefs Secretariat organized a session on 
capacity development offerings. The Fund participated 
at the event in Dartmouth, hosting a booth and 
speaking about the various types of capacity building 
a community might need, ranging from pieces of 
the governance framework like laws and policies, to 

Capacity Development (CD)
 
Forty-seven percent (47%) of First Nations approved for Credit 
Enhancement and/or Capacity Development are utilizing the 
Fund’s Capacity Development Program – 442+ people trained 
in 90 initiatives. The Fund has committed almost $1.5 million 
for capacity development initiatives in the Atlantic region.  

James MacKinnon, APC, Roxanne Harper, Turtle Island Associates,  
Ruth Deatcher, FNMHF 

First Nations approved for Capacity Development Only

First Nations approved for Credit Enhancement  
and Capacity Development

First Nations currently participating in  
the assessment process   

Credit Enhancement

16 First Nations are  
partners with the Fund 47% of approved First Nations 

are utilizing CD

leadership and staff training to execute those laws, 
to individual education sessions for citizens who 
might want to know how to make more informed 
decisions on how to increase their personal wealth 
and well-being. The Fund was able to cite several 
examples of initiatives completed in the Atlantic, 
including Matrimonial Real Property laws.  

99 Visits 46 Presentations21 First Nations

12 3 1

CAPACITY 
DEVELOPMENT 

PROGRAM

million in credit approved

potential home loans

Fund-backed loans

available loan space

$13

167
32

135

7

Community Workshops

Financial Management

Governance

Housing and Infrastructure

Human Resources

Lands and Economic Development

1

4

4

7

3

2

10

33

156

38

203

2

CD ACTIVITY
NUMBER OF FIRST 

NATIONS PARTICIPATING 
IN CD BY ACTIVITY

NUMBER OF 
PEOPLE TRAINED IN 

CD BY ACTIVITY
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Regional 
Report
Quebec 
 
Overview 
 
Thirty-five percent (35%) of the First Nations in 
Quebec have applied to work with the Fund.

First Nations Applied

Not Applied

Capacity Development (CD)
 
Sixty-four percent (64%) of First Nations approved for Credit 
Enhancement and/or Capacity Development are utilizing the 
Fund’s Capacity Development Program – 677 people trained in 
118 initiatives. The Fund has committed almost $3.5 million 
for capacity development initiatives in Quebec. 

First Nations approved for Capacity Development Only

First Nations approved for Credit Enhancement  
and Capacity Development

First Nations currently participating in  
the assessment process   

Credit Enhancement

14 First Nations are  
partners with the Fund 64% of approved First Nations 

are utilizing CD

81 Visits 18 First Nations 44 Presentations

CAPACITY 
DEVELOPMENT 

PROGRAM

million in credit approved

potential home loans

Fund-backed loans

available loan space

$77.3

423
105

318

6

Financial Management

Governance

Housing and Infrastructure

Human Resources

Lands and Economic Development

5

6

6

5

3

183

305

81

102

6

CD ACTIVITY
NUMBER OF FIRST 

NATIONS PARTICIPATING 
IN CD BY ACTIVITY

NUMBER OF 
PEOPLE TRAINED IN 

CD BY ACTIVITY

35%

5 6 3
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Fund-backed homes for sale, 
Cree First Nation of Waswanipi
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2019  
Highlight 
 

Cree Nation of Chisasibi (CNC) -  
Fire Evaluators and Fire Fighter 
Training/Certification 
  
In 2019, the Chisasibi Fire Department Brigade embarked 
on a journey to protect their legacy, their community 
and their homes. With the support of the Fund, the 
CNC partnered with the Justice Institute of British 
Columbia (JIBC), Fire and Safety Division, to certify 
five Fire Evaluators and to train fifteen of the Brigade’s 
members to achieve NFPA 1001 Fire Fighter Level 1 and 
Level 2 certification in accordance with the National 
Board on Fire Service Professional Qualifications and the 
International Fire Service Accreditation Congress.  

CNC hosted the JIBC, Fire and Safety 
Division, to deliver the two-day Fire 
1052 Evaluator Program. Five fire service 
professionals from the Cree Nation of 
Chisasibi and five professionals from the 
neighbouring fire departments from the 
communities of Whapmaguustui and the 
Cree Nation of Mistissini participated.  
Once granted JIBC evaluator certification, 
individuals are authorized to evaluate on 
behalf of JIBC Fire and Safety Divisions.  
Qualifying evaluations include proctoring 
accredited tests and exams, conducting 
skills-based assessments and/or the 
marking of assignments for face-to-face, 
blended or online courses.  To obtain 
the Evaluator Certificate, participants 
are required to receive a passing grade 
of 75 percent. By the end of the two-
day program, all ten participants were 
authorized JIBC Evaluators.

Four of the successful participants of 
the JIBC Evaluator Program were able 
to support JIBC in evaluating a training 
session to certify fifteen members of the 
Chisasibi Fire Department Brigade. Over 
Spring/Summer 2019, the uncertified 
members of the CNC Fire Brigade were 
evaluated on topics including Exterior 
and Interior Fire Fighter Operations, Full-
Service Fire Fighting Operation, HAZMAT 
Awareness and Operations, and two Live 
Fire exercises. A graduation ceremony was 
hosted by the Cree Nation Government in 
the National Capital Region in November 
2019.  Deborah Taylor, Executive Director, 
was proud to attend the event at the 
invite of the Fire Chief of the Chisasibi Fire 
Department to celebrate the success of all 
the graduates.    

        REGIONAL REPORT

“I want to make it very clear how 
fundamentally important it is to 
ensure the basic safety and security 
of our communities, and how 
important the work is that you 
graduates are committing yourselves 
to. Without that security and without 
a sense of safety in our communities, 
nothing else is possible. No dreams 
can be imagined where there is 
no feeling of safety… no grand 
and noble visions can be brought 
to consciousness, and no inspired 
ambitions can take root where 
people do not feel secure. For 
committing yourselves to ensuring 
our collective sense of safety, you are 
making a contribution to our people, 
the scope of which you may never 
imagine.”  
 

- DR. ABEL BOSUM, GRAND CHIEF OF THE GRAND COUNCIL 
OF THE CREES OF NORTHERN QUEBEC

Left to right:  Bill Namagoose, Executive Director of the Cree Nation 
Government and of the Grand Council of the Crees (Eeyou Istchee); Dr. Abel 
Bosum; Sophie Bosum; Deborah Taylor, FNMHF; Jim Hancock, RFR Chief, 
JIBC; Lee-Roy Blacksmith (Oujé-Bougoumou) Regional Fire Marshall, Cree 
Nation Government.
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Regional 
Report
Ontario 
 
Overview 
 
Forty-nine percent (49%) of the First Nations in 
Ontario have applied to work with the Fund.

First Nations Applied

Not Applied

2019 Highlight

The Ontario First Nations Technical Services Corporation 
(OFNTSC) hosted an Infrastructure gathering in the fall 
at Casino Rama that gave the Fund an opportunity to 
contribute to a student achievement award. In keeping 
with the Fund’s goal to build technical capacity in 
First Nations communities, this award is one of several 
that encourages First Nations students in Ontario to 
complete their post-secondary studies in the fields of 
science, technology or engineering.   

Capacity Development (CD)
 
Seventy-four percent (74%) of First Nations approved for Credit 
Enhancement and/or Capacity Development are utilizing the 
Fund’s Capacity Development Program – 1,295 people trained 
in 435 initiatives.  The Fund has committed over $7.5 million 
for capacity development initiatives in Ontario. 

First Nations approved for Capacity Development Only

First Nations approved for Credit Enhancement  
and Capacity Development

First Nations currently participating in  
the assessment process   

Credit Enhancement

66 First Nations are  
partners with the Fund 74% of approved First Nations 

are utilizing CD

The event also offered the Fund the chance to share 
some of the successes in First Nations in Ontario, 
including a walk-through of the challenges faced 
by the Bingwi Neyaashi Anishinaabek in their quest 
toward a market-based housing system.   

513 Visits 86 First Nations 240 Presentations

CAPACITY 
DEVELOPMENT 

PROGRAM

million in credit approved

potential home loans

Fund-backed loans

available loan space

$296

2,564
139

2,424

43

Community Workshops

Financial Management

Governance

Housing and Infrastructure

Human Resources

Lands and Economic Development

4

35

27

36

10

20

125

451

493

109

98

19

CD ACTIVITY
NUMBER OF FIRST 

NATIONS PARTICIPATING 
IN CD BY ACTIVITY

NUMBER OF 
PEOPLE TRAINED IN 

CD BY ACTIVITY

All Ontario Chiefs Conference (AOCC)

49%

19 39 8

        REGIONAL REPORT



38  |  

39

REBUILDING LEGACIES  ANNUAL REPORT 2019

Regional 
Report
Manitoba 
 
Overview 
 
Twenty-five percent (25%) of the First Nations in 
Manitoba have applied to work with the Fund. 

First Nations Applied

Not Applied

2019 Highlight

The Opaskwayak Cree Nation worked to complete a 
sustainable housing strategy while enhancing their 
housing policy to make it robust. Chief Christian Sinclair 
has expressed his desire to have everything in place to 
offer homeownership options backed by the Fund to his 
citizens by 2021. The strategy builds enhancements to 
the current stock, as well as exploring options to meet 
the varying needs of citizens going forward, including 
tiny homes.  
 

Capacity Development (CD)
 

Eighty-three percent (83%) of First Nations approved for Credit 
Enhancement and/or Capacity Development are utilizing the 
Fund’s Capacity Development Program – 415 people trained 
in 75 initiatives.  The Fund has committed almost $1.1 million 
for capacity development initiatives in Manitoba.

First Nations approved for Capacity Development Only

First Nations approved for Credit Enhancement  
and Capacity Development

First Nations currently participating in  
the assessment process   

Credit Enhancement

16 First Nations are  
partners with the Fund 83% of approved First Nations 

are utilizing CD

Opaskwayak surveyed what was working elsewhere 
with a view to bringing home learnings and making it 
their own. Developed with input from the community, 
the strategy is a living document that can be adapted 
to the community’s needs as the future unfolds.  

100 Visits 24 First Nations 56 Presentations

CAPACITY 
DEVELOPMENT 

PROGRAM

million in credit approved

potential home loans

Fund-backed loans

available loan space

$8.75

60
4

56

10

Community Workshops

Financial Management

Governance

Housing and Infrastructure

Human Resources

Lands and Economic Development

3

8

6

5

2

1

49

148

189

15

4

10

CD ACTIVITY
NUMBER OF FIRST 

NATIONS PARTICIPATING 
IN CD BY ACTIVITY

NUMBER OF 
PEOPLE TRAINED IN 

CD BY ACTIVITY

25%

10 2 4
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Chief Christian Sinclair and his team.
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Regional 
Report
Saskatchewan 
 
Overview 
 
Twenty-three percent (23%) of the First Nations in 
Saskatchewan have applied to work with the Fund. 

First Nations Applied

Not Applied

2019 Highlight

In October, the Fund was proud to be the water sponsor 
for another year at the AFOA Canada National Conference 
held in Saskatoon, SK. Fund staff and more than 30 staff 
and leaders from 10 partnering First Nations, sponsored 
by the Fund, attended the many workshops offered during 
the Conference to enhance their professional development.  
The Fund hosted a session entitled “Being Ready Doesn’t 
Always Mean Being Ready.”  

Capacity Development (CD)
 
Sixty-seven percent (67%) of First Nations approved for Credit 
Enhancement and/or Capacity Development are utilizing the 
Fund’s Capacity Development Program – 201 people trained in 
60 initiatives. The Fund has committed almost $1.45 million 
for capacity development initiatives in Saskatchewan. 

First Nations approved for Capacity Development Only

First Nations approved for Credit Enhancement  
and Capacity Development

First Nations currently participating in  
the assessment process   

Credit Enhancement

18 First Nations are  
partners with the Fund 67% of approved First Nations 

are utilizing CD

Richard Aisaican, Councillor, Cowessess First Nation, 
John Beaucage, Chair of the FNMHF, and Keven 
Seesequasis, Councillor, Beardy’s & Okemasis’ Cree 
Nation shared their successes and the mistakes they 
have learned from, as well as what they consider to 
be important in leading First Nations communities 
and organizations through a myriad of challenges. 

116 Visits 36 First Nations 80 Presentations

CAPACITY 
DEVELOPMENT 

PROGRAM

million in credit approved

potential home loans

Fund-backed loans

available loan space

$18.5

170
0

170

10

Community Workshops

Financial Management

Governance

Housing and Infrastructure

Human Resources

Lands and Economic Development

2

6

5

8

2

3

43

56

72

30

*
*

CD ACTIVITY
NUMBER OF FIRST 

NATIONS PARTICIPATING 
IN CD BY ACTIVITY

NUMBER OF 
PEOPLE TRAINED IN 

CD BY ACTIVITY

23%

12 3 3

        REGIONAL REPORT

* THESE INITIATIVES DID NOT INCLUDE TRAINING.
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Regional 
Report
Alberta 
 
Overview 
 
Thirty-eight percent (38%) of the First Nations in 
Alberta have applied to work with the Fund. 

First Nations Applied

Not Applied

2019 Highlight

The Fund participated in the Restoring our Sacred Space 
(ROSS) gathering in early spring.  Organizers worked to 
tie non-traditional elements to the bricks and mortar 
of housing, and to show some of the harsh realities of 
working in housing.  The Fund sponsored two long-time 
housing professionals to speak at the conference, who 
shared their experience in addressing mental health 
challenges in the communities they serve. From each 
end of the country they came to share their stories and 
to tell what is possible – Darlene Marshall travelled 

Capacity Development (CD)
 
Seventy-one percent (71%) of First Nations approved for Credit 
Enhancement and/or Capacity Development are utilizing the 
Fund’s Capacity Development Program – 203 people trained 
in 69 initiatives. The Fund has committed over $600 thousand 
for capacity development initiatives in Alberta. 

First Nations approved for Capacity Development Only

First Nations approved for Credit Enhancement  
and Capacity Development

First Nations currently participating in  
the assessment process   

Credit Enhancement

18 First Nations are  
partners with the Fund 71% of approved First Nations 

are utilizing CD

from Eskasoni on Cape Breton Island in Nova Scotia 
and Nelson Lepine travelled from Carcross Tagish First 
Nation in the Yukon. 

This conference also gave the Fund the opportunity to 
catch up with Mike Holmes and present him directly 
with the credit card sized version of the First Nations 
Sustainable Development Standards that his company 
had helped develop at Atikameksheng Anishnawbek.  

155 Visits 33 First Nations 62 Presentations

CAPACITY 
DEVELOPMENT 

PROGRAM

million in credit approved

potential home loans

Fund-backed loans

available loan space

$212.5

440
8

432

1011 3 4

38%

Financial Management

Governance

Housing and Infrastructure

Lands and Economic Development

5

5

9

2

31

89

83

*

CD ACTIVITY
NUMBER OF FIRST 

NATIONS PARTICIPATING 
IN CD BY ACTIVITY

NUMBER OF 
PEOPLE TRAINED IN 

CD BY ACTIVITY

        REGIONAL REPORT

* THESE INITIATIVES DID NOT INCLUDE TRAINING.
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Regional 
Report
British Columbia 
 
Overview 
 
Forty-seven percent (47%) of the First Nations in 
British Columbia have applied to work with the Fund. 

First Nations Applied

Not Applied

Capacity Development (CD)
 
Sixty percent (60%) of First Nations approved for Credit 
Enhancement and/or Capacity Development are utilizing the 
Fund’s Capacity Development Program – 724 people trained in 
437 initiatives. The Fund has committed over $5.5 million for 
capacity development initiatives in British Columbia. 

First Nations approved for Capacity Development Only

First Nations approved for Credit Enhancement  
and Capacity Development

First Nations currently participating in  
the assessment process   

Credit Enhancement

96 First Nations are  
partners with the Fund 60% of approved First Nations 

are utilizing CD

480 Visits 127 First Nations 270 Presentations

CAPACITY 
DEVELOPMENT 

PROGRAM

million in credit approved

potential home loans

Fund-backed loans

available loan space

$302.58

2,590
47

2,543

49

47%

26 56 14

Community Workshops

Financial Management

Governance

Housing and Infrastructure

Human Resources

Lands and Economic Development

4

34

29

34

11

17

31

366

238

54

16

19

CD ACTIVITY
NUMBER OF FIRST 

NATIONS PARTICIPATING 
IN CD BY ACTIVITY

NUMBER OF 
PEOPLE TRAINED IN 

CD BY ACTIVITY
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Fund-backed home, Seabird Island Band
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“I want to have an impact on  
people and dream of setting a 
standard of what we can do as 
Indigenous People.”  

– SHAWNRAE 
 
  
Shawnrae and Brandy grew up with similar childhood 
experiences. Both were from families with a single parent 
and both moved multiple times. Brandy shared that, by the 
time she was 20 years old, she had moved 26 times. This 
instability, lack of roots and security is the driving force 
behind their dream of owning their own home. 
 
   

“We poured our hearts and souls  
into building this home. It’s our  
forever home.”  
– BRANDY 

 
 
Brandy is from Waterhen First Nation in Saskatchewan.  
She grew up in the Nelson, B.C. area. She is an Education 
Assistant and enjoys art, music, and traditional dancing.  
She is currently taking classes to learn Shawnrae’s 
Halq’eméylem language. Shawnrae works at the 
Maintenance and Sanitation Department at Seabird Island 
and has a background in natural resources and forestry 
management. He has been living in the community for the 
past 15 years and considers it home; the longest place he 

REBUILDING LEGACIES  ANNUAL REPORT 2019

#

 

Shawnrae Gabriel and Brandy McCallum –  
Seabird Island Band

has ever resided. He enjoys crafts, beading, traditional 
dancing and singing, and sports. Shawnrae is also 
continuing his education and is pursuing the Sustainable 
Energy Management program at BCIT. The couple share 
their home with Kenora, their rescue dog. 
 

“My dream was to have a 
home that would make 
the most of the resources 
we have, and to make a 
commitment to live in a 
home that would last 30+ 
years to cement my legacy.” 
  
– SHAWNRAE

REBUILDING LEGACIES  ANNUAL REPORT 2019

        REGIONAL REPORT

47

2019  
Highlight 
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Brandy and Shawnrae set their sights on building a net 
zero energy home. They both stated that they learned a 
lot during the planning phase and building of their home. 
Brandy said it was difficult finding readymade plans 
for the home they desired, so they ended up hiring an 
architect who worked with them to design their dream 
home. Constructing a net zero energy home is more costly 
upfront, so it’s important to work with a contractor with 
expertise and experience in constructing eco-friendly 
homes. Every element of the building envelope must be 
carefully considered. The homeowners noted that it is 
really important to do your research on every element of 
the home, so you understand the impact it can provide 
and avoid costly mistakes. Their home includes a metal 
roof, radiant heated flooring, energy-efficient windows 
and lighting, and hot water on demand through a tankless 
water heater. There is no heating and cooling system. The 
building envelope keeps the home warm in the winter and 
cool in the summer. All appliances are energy star rated 
and include energy-saving modes for operation. Their first 
electrical bill, after adjustments for construction, was less 
than $40. The home also includes a water chain that will 
help them conserve water for use on their landscaping.  
Shawnrae pointed out that they do not pay for water 
today but that may change in the future. One needs to be 
forward-thinking especially in areas where water is hard to 
get. A rain filtering system is expensive but may be a future 
option. Their home was built to accommodate the future 
installation of solar panels and a generator.     

Shawnrae and Brandy ended up parting ways with 
their contractor before their home was finished due 
to a difference of opinion. The homeowners wished to 
include a wood stove in the home, and the contractor 
was committed to building only passive homes which 
are airtight.  This meant that the couple had to rely on 
their network of family and friends, some in the trade/
construction industry, to help them finish the home to 
the standard they desired. They did a lot of the work 
themselves, which saved them money. Carpentry has now 
become a new hobby. The couple explained that there are 
four steps to achieving a net zero energy home. Their home 
is currently at level one; however, these homeowners are 
already looking at further insulation options that would get 
them closer to their dream of a net zero energy home.   
 

        REGIONAL REPORT

“We hope we are an 
inspiration to others.” 

Shawnrae and Brandy’s advice for 
folks considering homeownership:  

• Understand the costs of building your own home  
 and look for ways to save money. For example,  
 research sales on building materials and appliances.  

• Ensure your finances are in order. The First Nation  
 has set limits on the loan amount they will back  
 through a guarantee, so you need to save up  
 enough for a downpayment and the difference  
 between the loan limit and the cost of building  
 the home. It takes time to save money and is well  
 worth it in the end. They moved into their home  
 in 2019 and have already built equity in its value.  

• If you wish to build an eco-friendly home, invest  
 in the cost of the foundation and building  
 envelope and work with a reputable architect  
 and contractor with experience in this area. 
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Regional 
Report
Yukon and NWT 
 
Overview 
 
Twenty-six percent (26%) of the First Nations in the 
Yukon and NWT have applied to work with the Fund. 

First Nations Applied

Not Applied

2019 Highlight

Capacity Development (CD)
 

Sixty-seven percent (67%) of First Nations approved for Credit 
Enhancement and/or Capacity Development are utilizing the 
Fund’s Capacity Development Program – 279 people trained in 
55 initiatives.  The Fund has committed over $1.5 million for 
capacity development initiatives in the Yukon and NWT. 

First Nations approved for Capacity Development Only

First Nations approved for Credit Enhancement  
and Capacity Development

First Nations currently participating in  
the assessment process   

Credit Enhancement

11 First Nations are  
partners with the Fund 67% of approved First Nations 

are utilizing CD

81 Visits 16 First Nations 33 Presentations

CAPACITY 
DEVELOPMENT 

PROGRAM

million in credit approved

potential home loans

Fund-backed loans

available loan space

$60+

327
19

308

6

Community Workshops

Financial Management

Governance

Housing and Infrastructure

Human Resources

Lands and Economic Development

1

5

5

6

2

4

22

82

87

45

43

*

CD ACTIVITY
NUMBER OF FIRST 

NATIONS PARTICIPATING 
IN CD BY ACTIVITY

NUMBER OF 
PEOPLE TRAINED IN 

CD BY ACTIVITY

26%

3 6 2
Teslin Tlingit Council explores more lands suitable for market-based housing.    

        REGIONAL REPORT

* THESE INITIATIVES DID NOT INCLUDE TRAINING.
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Rebuilding legacies adeptly 
describes the goal of the partnership 
between the Fund and those First 
Nations which choose to apply and 
participate in the Fund’s programs.  
 
Striving to serve First Nations in a respectful manner, 
the Fund and each partnering community work 
collaboratively to support community-driven solutions. 
To support this commitment, in 2019, the staff made a 
total of 100 trips and conducted 158 meetings in First 
Nations communities.  

Community choices reflect each First Nation’s reality, 
which is unique in many respects. Building capacity 
strength reflects the strategies designed with each 
First Nation. The parameters set for Fund-backed loans 
reflect each community’s needs. The designs of homes, 
and the renovations chosen, reflect individual tastes 
and levels of affordability. The Fund is committed 
to a sustainable solution that comes from the full 
engagement of our First Nations partners.
   

        SPREADING THE WORD

Spreading  
the Word

Bingwi Neyaashi 
Anishinaabek’s  
Journey to Homeownership  
 
The long and courageous journey of Bingwi 
Neyaashi Anishinaabek (BNA) is a story to be 
shared. Located on the southeast shores of Lake 
Nipigon, Sand Point was once a thriving and 
sustainable community of commercial fishermen, 
trappers and loggers.  However, several tragic 
events during the 20th century – including the 
flooding of the land, the forceful removal of its 
people and the destruction of the community 

– led to the displacement of the Sand Point 
membership from its traditional lands.  After years 
of fighting with all levels of government, the 
community was finally provided with a reserve, 
and the leadership supported self-government 
initiatives including the signing of the Framework 
Agreement on First Nation Land Management to 
ensure the community could develop without the 
burdens of government bureaucracy. 

With the election of the new Chief and Council in 
2017, BNA’s development accelerated dramatically.  
The community moved ahead with the opening 
of its sawmill, employing members and preparing 
lumber for the eventual use in community homes.  
Several infrastructure projects were initiated, 
including the roads project, which also led to the 
opening of its permitted aggregate pit north of 
the reserve for the use of its material. And most 
importantly, two new duplexes were constructed 
in its Phase 1 Housing Area, located along Lake 
Nipigon.  
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In 2020, the First Nation is building three more 
individual homes along the newly surveyed waterfront, 
will open its new clinic for use by the membership near 
the Highway, and will move forward with bringing in 
a new 3-phase power line – as well as fibre optics – 
from the Highway, down its newly surfaced road, and 
into the new community. By being aggressive and 
pushing forward, BNA is continuing to embark on the 
rapid development of its new community. In the words 
of Chief Joe Ladouceur, “we are just getting started.”     

With determination and resilience, BNA has overcome 
many challenges and is now embracing market 
housing to strengthen their community. On June 
21, 2019, National Indigenous People’s Day, BNA 
came together with partner organizations from 
industry, government and business to celebrate the 

“homecoming of Bingwi Neyaashi Anishinaabek” and 
the first home building since the community was so 
heartlessly destroyed over 60 years ago. 
  

Lucille Michaud, Senior Program Officer

Former BNA Chief Paul Gladu

Pictured above:  John Beaucage, Chairperson, Councillor Katie Borysewicz,  
Chief Joe Ladouceur, Councillor Lillian Calder, Deborah Taylor, Executive Director
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A timeline of BNA’s nine (9) year journey working 
with the Fund is depicted below: 

An Order-In-Council is 
passed, presenting 984.6 
hectares of reserve land 
to create the community 
of Bingwi Neyaashi 
Anishinabek (BNA).  

2010 – 
Land granted to 
create community  

BNA becomes the 29th First 
Nation to work with the Fund  
and is approved for the  
Capacity Development Program.  

October 2010 –
BNA is 29th FN to work with 
Fund is approved for CD 

January 2011  –
Scoping Session Complete – Land 
Tenure & Land Registry Options 

On January 10th, 2011 BNA began a 
scoping session with leadership and 
staff to determine which land tenure 
and land registry the First Nation 
wished to implement. Working with a 
consultant, BNA was able to examine 
regulatory regimes, land tenure 
options, issues related to land use, 
and land tenure policies to develop a 
strategy for implementation.  

November 2011 –
BNA Develops a  
Capital Plan 

April 2015 –
Housing Policy is 
developed 

May 2015 –
Finance Manual is 
Developed 

June 2015 –
MRP Law  
developed 

August 2018 –
Land Survey 
Complete

July 2018 –
Water Servicing 
Study Begins  

March 2019 –
Approved for CE

September 2018 –
Feasibility Study for a Truck Stop/
Gas Bar/ Convenience Store/
Accommodations Business 

FNMHF agrees to support BNA’s desire to 
complete a Capital Planning Study for their 
recently granted reserve land. The First 
Nation works with consultants, engineers 
and architects to undertake 43 tasks 
related to its Capital Plan. Included in the 
Capital Plan were recommendations for 
water supply and treatment, fire protection, 
sanitation and sewage treatment system, 
roads and drainage, and more.   

Working with a Consultant, BNA developed 
a Housing Policy aimed at building a 
healthy, prosperous, and environmentally 
self-sustaining community through several 
community development projects that will 
serve generations to come. The Housing 
Policy provided a framework for the 
administration, Housing Committee and 
Chief and Council to deliver an unbiased, 
transparent and feasible housing program.

BNA worked to strengthen 
its Finance Policy and 
develop a Finance Manual 
to regulate BNA’s financial 
transactions and establish 
the administrative 
structure of BNA which 
manages its funds.  

The Fund supported BNA in 
developing its Matrimonial 
Real Property Law. Working 
with legal professionals, the 
objective of this initiative was 
for members to understand the 
purpose and limits of MRP Law 
and address issues of current 
land ownership interests on 
reserve, including protecting 
BNA community members and 
land in an equitable manner.

The Fund supported BNA to 
work with a Land Surveyor to 
plot twelve new residential 
lots, and an additional two lots. 
The community requested that 
the plan be developed with 
larger lots that would better 
accommodate wells and septic 
tanks. A road connection was 
also made to ensure a secondary 
exit for BNA members residing 
in Phase 1 Housing Area in case 
of an emergency.

In advance of Phase 1 Lot 
Development on Bingwi Neyaashi 
Anishinabek reserve lands, the 
Fund supported partnering with 
engineering consultants to complete 
a source water investigation and 
serving plan. This investigation 
included well drilling, well testing 
and reporting, and the completion of 
a preliminary septic system design. 
As a result of this water servicing 
project, wells were installed on 
three of BNA’s Phase 1 Housing lots. 

The Fund approves BNA 
to participate in its Credit 
Enhancement Facility.

BNA conducts a feasibility study to 
assess the possibility of constructing and 
operating a Truck Stop/Gas Bar on BNA 
lands. This project aimed to strengthen 
BNA’s governance through greater 
economic development, the creation of 
job opportunities and member access to 
affordable market-based housing as  
part of their broader community building 
effort. BNA has been focusing on Highway 
11 developments due to the new mining 
opportunities that will be coming to the 
region in the very near future.

        SPREADING THE WORD

CHIEF JOE LADOUCEUR EXPLAINED,  
 

“We have survived significant adversity at the hands 
of outside forces beyond our control, yet rather than 
wither away, we have arisen once again to reclaim 
what is rightfully ours. It is crucial to provide a 
financial base for our community and to ensure we 
have the resources required to continue to develop 
our land and to move forward in a thoughtful  
and progressive, yet also in an aggressive manner. 
We value the continuing support of the First Nations 
Market Housing Fund in our journey.”

“I have been so proud and honoured to be a part 
of this. Your people had a vision; your leaders had 
a vision. Over the years, the Fund has provided 
support to help with various aspects of the 
community planning to build up capacity within the 
community.  It has all been put to great use to get 
the community to where it is today.” 

– JOHN BEAUCAGE  

  

The Fund was there to celebrate with the community. 
John Beaucage, Chair of the Fund, congratulated 
the present and past leaders, and the community, 
recognizing their inspiring years of hard work and 
unceasing determination that led to this wondrous 
occasion. He noted that he had been invited to 
attend the ceremony in 2010 to celebrate the signing 
of the return of the land. Now in 2019, the Chair was 
honoured to attend the homecoming.  
  

BNA intends to start building in Spring 2020 under 
the Fund’s Credit Enhancement Program and within 5 
years to build a total of 10 housing units, including 8 
homeownership and 2 rental units, while continuing to 
support seasonal residents. 
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The Board of Trustees were honoured 
to hold their August 2019 meeting in 
Siksika Nation.   
 
The community is located one hour’s drive east of the 
City of Calgary and three kilometres south of the Trans-
Canada Highway #1. The meeting was held at the Blackfoot 
Crossing Historical Park, site of the signing of Treaty No. 
7. The Park is a world-renowned, cultural, educational 
and entertainment centre built for the promotion and 
preservation of the Siksika Nation Peoples’ language, 
culture and traditions. The administrative and business 
district is strategically located adjacent to the Town of 
Gleichen to accommodate visitor traffic. 
   
The Siksika Nation Market Housing Program supports 
individual loan financing for new construction, renovations, 
refinancing and purchasing existing units located on Siksika 
lands. The first of eight Fund-backed loans were initiated 
in 2015.  Following the overland flooding crisis in Spring 
2018, the Nation prioritized the relocation and rebuilding 
of the many housing units that were lost. Fund-backed 
loans resumed in 2019.  The Trustees toured the community 
which provided the opportunity to see the new housing 
as a result of the rebuilding efforts, visit the museum and 
several businesses, and see some of the Fund-backed 
homes owned by the Nation’s citizens.  
  
The Trustees hosted a community luncheon on the last 
day of their meeting. Entertainment included traditional 
dancers and a drumming circle. The event permitted time 
for the Trustees and staff to meet one-on-one with many 
of the attendees. Elders shared their knowledge on the 
Nation’s traditions, including housing past, and many 
citizens were eager to ask questions about how they may 
start the process of building or renovating their own home.  
   

The Trustees Visit 
Siksika Nation

The Trustees and staff of the Fund wish to pay 
tribute to Frank Medicine Shield. Frank was Siksika’s 
Market Housing Coordinator and championed 
homeownership opportunities through Fund-
backed loans for Siksika’s citizens as one option to 
address the housing shortage and issues such as 
overcrowding. Sadly, Frank lost his short battle with 
cancer in November 2019. The Fund is forever grateful 
for Frank’s commitment and passion to advancing 
homeownership opportunities in Siksika Nation. 

        SPREADING THE WORD

Top left:  John Beaucage, Chairperson, Chief Joseph Weasel Child, Ruth Williams, Vice-Chairperson.
Top right:  Elder Gerald Sitting Eagle guided the tour of Siksika Nation.
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ATLANTIC POLICY CONGRESS HOUSING CAPACITY SESSION 

FIRST NATIONS HOUSING CONFERENCE 

NACCA INDIGENOUS ECONOMIC PROSPERITY FORUM 

PRINCE ALBERT GRAND COUNCIL HOUSING CONFERENCE 

RESTORING OUR SACRED SPACE CONFERENCE 

ANISHINAABEK NATION AGA 

CHIEFS OF ONTARIO 

FIRST NATIONS BANK OF CANADA CONFERENCE 

ASSEMBLY OF FIRST NATIONS AGA 

INDIGENOUS CLEAN ENERGY SUMMIT 

ONTARIO FIRST NATIONS INFRASTRUCTURE TECHNICAL MEETING 

AFOA CANADA 20TH ANNIVERSARY NATIONAL CONFERENCE 

CANDO - 26TH ANNUAL NATIONAL CONFERENCE & AGM 

FIRST NATIONS PUBLIC SERVICE SECRETARIAT CONFERENCE 

ASSEMBLY OF FIRST NATIONS SPECIAL CHIEFS ASSEMBLY 

   

DARTMOUTH, NS

THUNDER BAY, ON

GATINEAU, QC

PRINCE ALBERT, SK

TSUUT’INA, AB

HOSTED BY CHIPPEWAS OF GEORGINA ISLAND, ON

HOSTED BY BATCHEWANA FIRST NATION, SAULT STE. MARIE, ON

SASKATOON, SK

FREDERICTON, NB

MONTREAL, QC

CHIPPEWAS OF RAMA, ON

SASKATOON, SK

GATINEAU, QC

VANCOUVER, BC

OTTAWA, ON

The Fund’s expertise continued to be sought in the 
planning of multiple conferences, workshops and strategic 
planning events throughout 2019. The invitation to 
participate in such events was often accompanied by an 
invitation to present or participate on a panel.  

Each opportunity was leveraged to develop a  
relationship with new First Nations clients, obtain 
feedback and improve our service.  

The Fund attended/presented and/or hosted information 
booths at the following conferences during 2019: 

        SPREADING THE WORD
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AFN AGA - Catching 
up with Leaders

REBUILDING LEGACIES  ANNUAL REPORT 2019

        SPREADING THE WORD

61

Right top to bottom:  Chief Scott McLeod, Nipissing First  
Nation; Grand Chief Glen Hare, Anishinaabek Nation

Left top to bottom:  Chief Kirby Whiteduck, Algonquins of 
Pikwakanagan First Nation; Chief Glenn Hudson, Peguis First 
Nation; Chief Dr. Ronald Ignace, Skeetchestn Indian Band

Right side:  Councillor Karen McGraw and Chief Patsy 
Corbiere, Aundeck Omni Kaning First Nation



62  |  

63

REBUILDING LEGACIES  ANNUAL REPORT 2019

First Nations Public 
Service Secretariat
Comments received from individuals 
the Fund sponsored to attend the 
Conference:  
 

“I look forward to working with my 
management team on establishing 
and updating our policies or bylaws, 
as they are all very outdated. Since 
taking this training, I have gone back 
to their training resources such as the 
Personnel Policy example and the 
Housing Policy example and used this 
reference material for a few of the 
situations I have been faced with.”

“Thank you so much to the First 
Nations Market Housing for 
sponsoring me for this training.”

REBUILDING LEGACIES  ANNUAL REPORT 2019

Congratulations to Nicolas Gaulin who won the 
Fund’s car care kit. Nicolas is a student at UBC.

        SPREADING THE WORD

63
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Feedback from some of the individuals 
the Fund sponsored to attend the AFOA 
Canada Conference: 
 
 

“Great speaker! We learned tips on how to 
create a more positive work environment 
even through disruptions. Inspirational.” 
   
 
 

AFOA Canada 20th 
National Conference

“This workshop was powerful. 
We must all work on ourselves to 
be able to change and work with 
change in the community. We 
also must take care of ourselves 
in order to have the energy for 
our community.” 

“The exercises were fun and engaging. 
I enjoyed the sharing of ideas and 
what other FN Communities are 
doing to comply and still have the 
best possible outcome.” 
  

“I learned extensive valuable 
information regarding contracts, 
contract law, and how it applies  
in First Nations communities.”  

“I learned the importance of building 
community plans and developing 
organizational strategies to best manage  
risks in order to reduce negative impact  
and damage to the community.”

        SPREADING THE WORD

Left to right: Carl Kanjilal, Tae Kim, Jason Haskett, 
Travis Seymour, Almaz Kifleyesus, Nancy Pine

AFOA Canada Conference Sponsors
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CANDO – 26th Annual 
National Conference AFN SCA

Deborah Taylor,  
Chief Dr. Ronald  
Ignace, Skeetchestn  
Indian Band,  
Ruth Deatcher

  

Ruth Deatcher, Director 
Programs; Jim Prodger, 
Trustee; Melanie 
Douville, Teslin Tlingit 
Council Policy Analyst; 
John Beaucage, Chair; 
and Deborah Taylor, 
Executive Director 
take a moment at the 
AFN Special Chief’s 
Assembly Gala in 
Ottawa in December.

        SPREADING THE WORD

Left:  Rebecca Deatcher, FNMHF, Jennifer Martin, Membertou
Top right:  Warren Weir, Vancouver Island University
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        OUR FIRST NATIONS PARTNERS

Our First Nations 
Partners

“Since the Fund opened its doors in 2008, 
we’ve seen a growing recognition about the 
value and possibilities of homeownership across 
First Nations. Individuals now know they no 
longer have to go it alone - they are creating 
wealth and building the homes of their choice 
with the help of a bank mortgage backed by 
the Fund. The overwhelming feedback from 
our partners is that they share our belief that a 
sound market-housing option, such as the one 
the Fund offers, will be an integral part of their 
housing toolbox as First Nations move forward. 
As a proud First Nations organization, we know 
our work has just begun.”  
 

– JOHN BEAUCAGE, CHAIRPERSON

First Nations Partners Announced in 2019

First Nations Partners Announced Over the Years 

The Fund proudly 
announced its partnership 
with Bingwi Neyaashi 
Anishinaabek (BNA) in 
2019. BNA’s journey with 
the Fund has prepared 
them to rebuild a housing 
legacy on their lands.   

Yukon

British Columbia

Carcross/Tagish First Nation 
(2013)

Seabird Island Band (2009)

T’it’q’et First Nation (2012)

Okanagan Indian Band (2014

Leq’á:mél First Nation (2015)

Skwah First Nation (2015)

Nuxalk Nation (2017)

K’omoks First Nation (2018)

St. Mary’s Indian Band (2010)

Adams Lake Indian Band (2013)

Simpcw First Nation (2014)

Nooaitch Indian Band (2015)

Little Shuswap Lake Indian Band (2016)

Skowkale First Nation (2017)

Tsal’alh First Nation (2010)

Tk’emlups Indian Band (2010)

Malahat First Nation (2013)

Upper Nicola Band (2014)

Penelakut Tribe (2015)

Quatsino First Nation (2016)

Kwantlen First Nation (2017)

Neskonlith Indian Band (2011)

Tsawout First Nation (2013)

Halalt First Nation (2015)

Sechelt Indian Band (2015)

 Skidegate Band Council (2016)

Katzie First Nation (2018)

Penticton Indian Band (2012)

Lower Nicola Indian Band (2014)

Lake Cowichan First Nation (2015)

Skeetchestn Indian Band (2015)

Tsartlip First Nation (2016)

Kispiox Band (2018)

Kwanlin Dün First Nation  
(2015)

Tr’ondëk Hwëch’in   
(2016)

Champagne and Aishihik First Nations  
(2011)

In the 1950s, BNA members were forcefully 
removed from their traditional homeland after 
the Province cancelled a license of occupation 
to make way for a provincial park. Through the 
persistent efforts of successive leaders and Elders, 
the people of BNA have worked tirelessly to 
reclaim and rebuild their community.  In 2010, an 
Order-In-Council was passed and presented to 
the community which formally created a total of 
984.6 hectares of reserve lands for the BNA.  In 
this same year, BNA applied and was approved 
to participate in the First Nations Market Housing 
Fund Capacity Development Program, with the 
recommendation that additional time be spent on 
the development and implementation of key areas 
of governance to be considered under the Fund’s 
Credit Enhancement Program.  
 
The community undertook a number of 
community rebuilding efforts over this period of 
time, including the development of the BNA Land 
Code, Matrimonial Real Property Law, Capital 
Plan, Water Source Investigation Study, Survey 
Plans, Housing Strategy, and Housing Policy 
development, to name a few.  
 
It has long been the vision of the community’s 
leadership and membership to reconnect and 
rebuild on the land. In February 2019, BNA was 
approved to participate in the Credit Enhancement 
Facility of the First Nations Market Housing Fund 
Program. This is a major achievement belonging to 
the First Nation membership, leadership and staff.  
BNA will now be able to offer eligible housing 
loans to its members backed by the Fund. 

Bingwi Neyaashi Anishinaabek  
 
Bingwi Neyaashi Anishinaabek (BNA), also known as Sand 
Point First Nation, is located on pristine eastern shores of 
Lake Nipigon in Northwest Ontario, approximately 2 hours 
northeast of the City of Thunder Bay, Ontario.  
  

Teslin Tlingit Council  
(2016)
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Alberta

Saskatchewan

Quebec

Nova Scotia

Newfoundland and Labrador

Prince Edward Island

Manitoba

Ontario

Siksika Nation  
(2012) 

Lac La Ronge Indian Band  
(2009) 

Fisher River Cree Nation  
(2015) 

Long Plain First Nation 
(2015)  

Batchewana First Nation  
(2009)

Serpent River First Nation  
(2010)

Wikwemikong Unceded Indian Reserve 
(2012) 

Mohawks of the Bay of Quinte  
(2013) 

Chippewas of Nawash Unceded First 
Nation (2014) 

Cree Nation of Waswanipi (2013) 

Cree Nation of Waswanipi (2013) 

Miawpukek First Nation (2008) 

Lennox Island First Nation 
(2017) 

Wasauksing First Nation  
(2017)

Atikameksheng Anishnawbek  
(2010)

M’Chigeeng First Nation  
(2011)

Beausoleil First Nation  
(2013)

Ojibways of Pic River First Nation 
(2013) 

Garden River First Nation  
(2014) 

Cree Nation of Eastmain  
(2013) 

Mohawk Council of Akwesasne 
(2017)

Hiawatha First Nation  
(2010)

Mississauga First Nation  
(2011)

Curve Lake First Nation (2013) 

Temagami First Nation  
(2013)

Alderville First Nation 
(2015) 

Cree Nation of Wemindji  
(2013) 

Chapleau Cree First Nation  
(2017)

Moose Cree First Nation  
(2010)

Whitefish River First Nation  
(2011) 

Henvey Inlet First Nation  
(2013) 

Wahnapitae First Nation  
(2013) 

Saugeen First Nation  
(2017)

Cree Nation of Chisasibi  
(2014) 

Mattagami First Nation 
(2017)

Sagamok Anishnawbek  
(2010)

Nipissing First Nation  
(2012) 

Lac Seul First Nation  
(2013) 

Aundeck Omni Kaning First Nation 
(2014)

Wahta Mohawks  
(2017)

Cree Nation of Mistissini 
(2017) 

Onion Lake Cree Nation  
(2009) 

Flying Dust First Nation  
(2013)  

        OUR FIRST NATIONS PARTNERS
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        OUR REACH

Our Reach A Financial Snapshot

of First Nations in  
Canada have now chosen  
to work with the Fund. 

64%  

First Nations 
in Yukon

47%  

First Nations
in British 
Columbia

38%  

First Nations 
in Alberta

23%  

First Nations in 
Saskatchewan

25%  

First Nations 
in Manitoba

7%  

First Nations 
in NWT

49%  

First Nations 
in Ontario

35%  

First Nations 
in Quebec

46%  

First Nations in 
the Atlantic

Canada
TOTAL NUMBER OF FIRST NATIONS IN 
EACH PROVINCE/TERRITORY SOURCE: 
ASSEMBLY OF FIRST NATIONS, 
OCTOBER 2018.

9/14 18/48 18/77 2/29 14/4016/63 16/3596/ 
203

66/ 
134

40% The Fund  

$250,714   
spent on staff travel in 2019

 
100  
trips across the country

  
158  
meetings achieving 
efficiencies in time and cost 
 
  

$2,500/trip  
 Approximately

 
$989  
million  
in potential credit  
approved to support

$300 million 
Original investment still held in Trust

$366 million 
Total assets as of 2019

6,750 
homes 

12 Lenders

$2 million 
spent on capacity development in 2019

$

Travel

AN ESTIMATED
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The Fund’s vision statement is 
“Every First Nation family has the 
opportunity to have a home on their 
own land in a strong community.”  
 
This vision statement addresses one of the most 
important socio-economic gaps between First Nations 
and non-Indigenous Canadians: access to good 
housing.     

For more than 10 years, the Fund has been facilitating 
access to financing for market-based housing in First 
Nations communities and building the capacity of First 
Nations to support the development, implementation 
and ongoing administration of market-based housing 
programs. The Fund accomplishes this through strong 
governance and operational practices and procedures 
that have been developed over the past decade.  Each 
year the Fund works towards improving its systems to 
achieve its four key objectives:  

1.   Implement the Credit Enhancement Facility 

2.   Deliver the Capacity Development Program 

3.   Effectively Manage the Fund’s Investment Services 

4.   Effectively Manage the Fund 
   
This Management Discussion and Analysis (MD&A) will 
expand on how the Fund performed in each of these 
areas. The performance measures noted herein are 
those of the 2019 Business Plan, which was approved 
by the CMHC Minister.  

        MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Management Discussion 
and Analysis

Highlights and Changes in 2019 
 
There were several changes that took place in 2019 
that are worth noting.  In the area of governance, a 
selection process for the appointment of new Trustees 
to the Fund, which had commenced in 2018, carried 
over well into 2019. Before the federal election was 
called, three new Trustees were appointed to the 
Fund.  The remaining founding Trustees took steps 
to bring the three new Trustees onboard right after 
the election.  Unfortunately, the appointment of the 
remaining Trustees was delayed and did not take 
place by year-end.  
 
In anticipation of new Trustee appointments, the 
previous CMHC Minister commissioned a special 
operational review, carried out by Deloitte LLP, to 
examine the governance and risk management 
practices of the Fund. The Trustees and management 
were keen to participate in this review in order to 
demonstrate some of the challenges and obstacles 
that have hampered the Fund as it strives to achieve 
its goals and objectives. It is expected that the results 
of this review will be available in 2020.   

In the area of investments, starting in January, the 
Fund began implementing changes emanating from 
its latest, Funder-approved Statement of Investment 
Policy (SIP).  The modified 2017 SIP, which was 
approved by the Funder (CMHC) in late 2018, allowed 
for the addition of corporate bonds to the portfolio 
mix (up to 33% of the fixed asset portion).  
  

In June of 2019, CMHC informed the Trustees that they 
would no longer be providing Investment Management 
services for the Fund. In response to that news, the 
Trustees engaged a search consultant to facilitate the 
search for a new Investment Manager. A public tender 
was issued in December 2019, and the Fund expects to 
have a new Investment Manager in place by April 1, 2020.  

Another highlight in 2019 was the updating of the long-
term strategic plan and the development of a 5-year 
business plan. In planning for the future, the Trustees 
looked at a much longer horizon – 10 years. This allowed 
them to identify initiatives to undertake in the upcoming 
5-year period that will be needed to be ready for the 
future. The timing of this long-term planning was ideal 
because the Trustees were able to use the feedback 
received from the regional engagement sessions that took 
place across Canada in 2018.  

Looking forward, the remaining founding Trustees of the 
Fund have renewed optimism that the incoming Trustees 
will be able to build on these plans as they transition 
onto the board.  

Objective 1.0: Implement the  
Credit Enhancement (CE) Facility  

The Credit Enhancement Facility was established to 
provide additional security to backstop on-reserve 
housing loans. This facility supports First Nations by 
establishing on-reserve housing loan programs with 
participating lenders.   

The security provided by the Credit Enhancement  
Facility means that lenders may be willing to offer  
loans on more favourable terms than they would in the 
absence of the facility.    

This facility provides assurances to third-party lenders 
and insurers that repayment of financing arranged for 
housing by a qualified First Nations community will 
be honoured up to the limit of the agreed-upon Credit 
Enhancement (CE) in the event that a First Nation fails to 
fulfil its responsibility for the repayment of a loan default. 

CE Performance indicators are illustrated in the 
table below. 

  

 
In 2019, the Fund secured 8 applications from First 
Nations, falling below the planned target of 20 by 
12 applications. There were however several partial 
applications on hand at year end where intent to 
apply has been expressed, but a key document was 
awaited in order for the application to be counted. 
That said, the number of new applications has been 
levelling off over the past few years and 20 remains 
the annual target.  By the end of 2019, the Fund 
had received applications (in aggregate) from 255 
of the 643 First Nations in Canada, representing a 
healthy forty percent (40%).  
 
Although the number of new applications has been 
in decline, the Fund has been focusing its efforts 
on working with existing applicants to help them 
qualify for the Fund’s programs. These efforts 
include First Nations where there have been major 
changes in leadership or senior administrators, 
where the relationship is effectively restarted. It is 
expected that applications approved for CE after CD 
will surpass new applications in the future.  

Once a Fund-backed loan program is made 
available in a community, there has proven to 
be a long period required to educate citizens on 
the many aspects of homeownership. The Fund’s 
experience has been that many individuals applying 
for loans are turned down until they address 
bruised credit issues. In addition, it takes time for 
individuals to save the required down payment. The 
Fund has been working with citizens earlier in the 
process so that they may start preparing to take on 
homeownership responsibilities.   

 
2019 RESULTS  

8 new applications

4 new qualified First Nations

57 loans approved

KEY PERFORMANCE 
INDICATORS 2019 PLAN  

20 new applications   

26 new qualified First Nations

672 loans approved
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At the end of 2019, of the 255 applications that had 
been received, 118 applications were approved for 
Credit Enhancement and Capacity Development, 98 
applications were approved for Capacity Development 
only, and a further 39 applications were under review.  

Prior to 2019, the Fund had approved a potential of $964 
million for Housing Loan Guarantee Credits. At the end 
of 2019, the potential figure was $989 million – an 
increase of $25 million or 2.6 percent. During 2019, the 
Fund provided 57 partial loan guarantees to third-party 
lenders under the Credit Enhancement Facility for 57 
homes, bringing the accumulated total to 314 partial 
loan guarantees for 354 homes. At December 31, 2019, 
the total value of the loans was $59.1 million, of which 
the Fund is guaranteeing a maximum of 10 percent, or 
$5.91 million.  

In 2019, the Fund continued to engage two dedicated 
consultants who focus their efforts on helping 
applicants achieve credit enhancement and helping 
approved First Nations clients with getting loans to 
individual members. Further, the Fund has established 
some new internal positions which will be similarly 
focused, once staffed.  

2019 RESULTS 

4 new qualified First Nations for CD with CE 
 
12 new qualified First Nations for CD only  

1 First Nation assisted by CD funds became eligible for CE  
 

Activities included: the fire fighter and fire fighter evaluation 
training; carpentry apprentice training; development of 
membership codes, residential land use plans, and land surveys. 
 
During the year, $2,034,073 was spent towards CD. Additional 
commitments of approximately $1.7 M were outstanding at 
year-end for work yet to be completed.
 
 The impacts of the legalization of cannabis was addressed in 
both human resources and housing policies.

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 2019 PLAN   

11 new qualified First Nations for CD with CE  
            

9 new qualified First Nations for CD only  
 

15 First Nations assisted by CD funds become eligible for CE  
 
 Tangible new strength demonstrated in the community  
as a result of CD funding.  

CD funding commitments provided to  
First Nations communities.  

 

New tools and materials developed to respond to a 
particular need.

        MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Objective 2.0: Deliver Capacity 
Development Program 
 
The Fund has established a Capacity Development 
(CD) program which provides funding for First Nations 
communities that meet or are close to meeting the 
Fund’s criteria for the Credit Enhancement Facility but 
have areas which could be strengthened or improved. 

Funding for Capacity Development supports the 
provision of training, advice and coaching, which 
focuses on improving market-based housing capacity 
development for qualified First Nations and members  
of these communities.  
 
The maximum budget available in any given year for 
the Capacity Development Program shall not exceed 
50 percent of the preceding year’s net income, which 
is calculated as investment revenue less expenses and 
capacity development. Any unexpended amounts at the 
end of each year may be carried forward to be spent in 
subsequent years as approved in the annual Business Plan. 
 By the end of 2019, the Fund had worked with 142 

communities on capacity development, in aggregate. 
The Fund has also developed in excess of 963 CD 
products to serve First Nations and their unique needs.  
 
Wherever possible and appropriate, the Fund shares 
these products between First Nations clients. These 
clients can use the products as templates. This sharing 
of CD products is one approach to keeping the costs 
down and maximizing the benefit to the Fund’s clients. 
 
From the engagement sessions held in 2018, one of 
the common themes that was heard from many First 
Nations is that CD support is very much needed and 
should be expanded. Requests for more CD and over a 
longer period of time was one common theme.  
 
The Fund is anticipating increased demand for Capacity 
Development services from those already approved, as 
well as from more First Nations who decide to apply 
and participate.  
 

Since Capacity Development services are funded by 
investment income and given the declining outlook 
for investment income returns, there may be tighter 
restrictions on providing CD support in the future. The 
current projection is that there will be insufficient net 
income to permit Capacity Development to continue 
at a reasonable level in future years. The Trustees 
continue to make representations to seek changes in 
the way the available Capacity Development funding 
is calculated.  

 
The Fund has qualified consultants available to assist 
First Nations communities meet their goals. They have 
been assessed and have met the Fund’s consultant 
criteria. The Fund’s experience has been that it takes 
many years for communities approved for CD only 
to subsequently qualify for CE. The difference in the 
amount of time it takes for each community to  
qualify for CE reflects the complexity and sustained 
effort needed.  
 

CD Performance indicators are illustrated in the table above. 

Jason Haskett, FNMHF; Ruth Deatcher, FNMHF; Gail Joe, CE Specialist
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It should be noted that the Fund is self-sustaining. The 
capacity development is fully funded from income earned 
from the investment of a $300-million capital contribution 
by the Federal Government to establish the Fund. There 
is no additional federal money provided. Summary of 
Financial Results section highlights the variance in Capacity 
Development spending in 2019 compared to the plan.  
 

2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

3.80% 

2.92%

During 2019, the Fund with its Investment Manager 
and other experts has explored the risks and 
opportunities associated with investing in corporate 
bonds to complement its existing portfolio. Although 
higher risk is associated with corporate bonds, 
there is also potential for higher returns to address 
decreasing yield in the Fund’s portfolio. The Trustees 
have reviewed and approved an updated Statement 
of Investment Policy, which allows for an inclusion of 
corporate bonds to a maximum of 33% of the fixed 
assets portion of the Fund’s portfolio.  
 

Year

2008*

2009

2010

2011

2012

2013

2014

2015

2016

2017

2018

2019

Budget per the 
Minister ($) 

  
0

1,547,000 

2,792,412

1,485,000 

2,727,000

3,577,500 

3,834,000 

3,888,000

3,888,000

3,800,000 

4,000,000 

4,000,000 

35,538,912

Actual Amount 
Spent on CD ($)  

  
0

2,500

183,382

1,022,903 

2,041,603

2,880,541 

5,404,490

4,476,964 

1,482,172 

1,277,564  

2,511,203  

2,034,073 

23,317,395 

Increase (Decrease) 
in Actual Spending 

Compared to 
Prior Year ($)  

n/a 

2,500

180,882

839,521 

1,018,700 

838,938 

2,523,949 

(927,526) 

(2,994,792) 

(204,608) 

1,233,639 

(477,130)

* The Fund was not permitted to spend any money on CD in 2008 
as it did not have any net income from a prior year. 

Capacity Development funding for all but tuition is 
only advanced when the products are prepared and 
accepted by the Fund and the First Nation. This process, 
which assures a high-quality product, directly affects 
the cash outflow in any given year. A summary of the 
Capacity Development activity in 2019 is as follows:  

• 12 consultants signed contracts for CD work  
 at 27 First Nations. 
 
• 12 group trainers provided CD training at 14  
 First Nations. 

• Staff and leaders from 27 First Nations 
 participated in 79 initiatives offered by 17 
 learning institutions. 

Objective 3:  Effectively Manage 
Investment Services 
 
Investment guidelines from the Department of Finance 
define how funds from upfront contributions from the 
Government of Canada, including the contribution 
received by the Fund, may be invested. These 
guidelines require the development of a Statement 
of Investment Policy and Investment Strategy on an 
annual basis. The Statement of Investment Policy limits 
the types of investment vehicles permitted. 

Given the current low interest rate environment, the 
Fund’s yield on its investments has steadily declined 
from 3.71% at the end of 2010 when the Fund’s portfolio 
became fully invested to the following yields below: 

At the end of 2018, the Funder and the Government 
approved a revised SIP, and as such, the Fund restructured 
its bond laddered portfolio in the beginning of 2019. 
The Fund will continue to examine all possible alternatives 
to increase revenues in a safe way, compliant with the 
Minister of Finance Investment Management Framework 
for Up-front Funding. 
 
In 2019, all investment activity was conducted in 
accordance with the requirements of the Fund’s Statement 
of Investment Policy and the Fund’s Investment Strategy, 
both of which are revisited annually. Investment income 
in 2019 was sufficient to provide for both administrative 
expenses and funding for Capacity Development 
requirements, although there was a concerted effort to 
limit Capacity Development expenses in order to stay 
within the budget approved by the Minister. 

Investment Management performance indicators include: 

2019 Results

The Fund’s net worth, i.e. its 
Deferred Contributions, grew in 
2019 from $358.8 million at the 
beginning of the year to $364.6 
million at the end of the year; a 
growth of $5.8 million or 1.6%. 
The original contribution by the 
Federal government was $300 
million.

Investment income including a 
gain on sale of sovereign bonds 
of $975,829 was $11,472,102. 
Investment income exceeded total 
expenses by $5,818,957.  

Key Performance 
Indicators 2019 Plan

Preserve capital 

 
 
 
 
 

Investment income that  
is available for Capacity 
Development and  
Administration 

2019 Results
 
8 Board meetings held 

31 Committee meetings held

2020-24 Business Plan prepared and  
sent to Minister within the approved 
extended deadline 

2018 Annual Report prepared and  
sent to Minister on time 

2019 audited financial statements were 
prepared and sent to Funder on time 

 

Key Performance 
Indicators 2019 Plan

6 Board meetings

24 Committee meetings 

Business Plan prepared

Annual Report prepared

Financial Statements prepared 
in timely manner

Objective 4: Effectively Manage the Fund  

To remain a strong organization that is able to fulfil its 
mandate, the Fund draws on sound financial and risk 
management policies, efficient and reliable information 
technology processes and systems, and effective human 
resources management. 

The Fund prepared and reported in a timely manner 
the following reports: 

 1. Quarterly financial statements to the Funder, per   
 the Fund’s Funding Agreement; and 
2. Quarterly financial reports to the Federal Government  
 for inclusion in the Public Accounts of Canada.

In addition, the Fund filed its 2018 T3 Trust Income 
Tax and Information Returns [“Returns”] showing nil 
taxable income in a timely manner. The Fund has filed 
these Returns showing nil taxable income for each of 
2008 through 2018. Trust Notices of Assessment and 
Reassessments [“Notices”] were received from the CRA 
indicating that the assessed taxable income and taxes 
payable were nil for each of the ten years. The Notices 
indicate that the CRA can reassess the return at any 
time within three years of the date of the Notices if it 
finds an error during a review or audit of the return. 
The three-year period on the Notices for the years 2008 
through 2015 have now expired.  

The 2018 Annual Report was completed and sent to 
the Minister in a timely manner.  

During 2019, the Fund strengthened its information 
technology processes including IT security and risk 
management through consultations with third-party 
experts and its information technology service provider. 
The Fund’s information technology capabilities 
continued to strengthen in 2019. 

        MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Summary of  
Financial Results
Financial results as compared to plan 
are as follows: 

Cash and Cash Equivalents **

Long-term Investments

Deferred Contributions

Investment Income ****

Administration Expenses

Capacity Development Expenses 

Funds available for 2019 Capacity Development ***

Credit Enhancement Guarantee (Recovery) 

2019 Plan ($) *

9,723,000

348,797,000

357,066,000

11,170,000

5,795,736

4,000,000

4,000,000

431,000

2019 Results ($) 

29,164,930 

336,286,918

364,607,723

11,472,102

3,726,213

2,034,073

8,111,064

(107,141) 

     * The plan figures noted above are from the approved 2019 Business Plan.  
   ** Cash and cash equivalents include accrued interest receivable.  
  *** Budgeted CD expenditures in any given year shall be approved by the Minister responsible for CMHC as part of the annual Business Plan. 
**** Investment income includes realized gain on sale of long-term investments 

Overall, the Fund’s assets, mainly consisting of cash and cash 
equivalents and long-term investments, as well as corres-
ponding deferred contributions were above the planned 
amounts as total actual expenses were less than planned.   

The Fund was able to achieve the budgeted amount in 
investment income although actual results include a $1 
million gain on the sale of long-term investments in the 
first quarter of 2019, which was not budgeted. With 
the approval of the revised Statement of Investment 
Policy (SIP) in December of 2018, the Fund restructured 
its investment portfolio mix to include corporate bonds, 
yielding a higher rate of return than the existing 
sovereign bonds.  
 

Approximately $112 million in bonds were sold to 
purchase a variety of bonds issued by Canadian 
corporations, which represents 33% of the fixed 
income portion of the Fund’s total portfolio in accordance 
with the new SIP. It should be noted, however, that 
actual investment income (excluding gain on sale of 
investments) fell short of the budgeted amount because 
the budget had anticipated a further revision to the SIP 
to be approved in 2019 to allow for an actively traded 
bond portfolio by mid-2019, which would yield a much 
greater return. This did not materialize as planned, and 
the Fund continued to hold corporate and sovereign 
bonds using a laddered approach for the entirety of 2019.   

        SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL RESULTS

81
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Although the addition of corporate bonds in the 
portfolio has reduced the impact of falling yields, the 
average yield for long-term investments continued to 
decline from 2.94% at the end of 2018 to 2.92% at the 
end of 2019 (decline from 2017 to 2018 was steeper 
from 3.02% to 2.94%). In response, the Trustees have 
submitted another SIP in 2019 for approval, which 
would allow the addition of actively traded bonds 
and equities. This revised SIP has been confirmed by 
the Department of Finance to be in compliance with 
the Minister of Finance’s Investment Management 
Framework for Up-Front Funding (2009); however, 
the Funder has not approved this proposal. Due to 
uncertainties surrounding the SIP and the search for 
a new investment manager, the balance held in cash 
and cash equivalents (which includes accrued interest 
receivable) has increased to roughly 8% of the total 
investment portfolio at December 31, 2019.  

Administration expenses were under-spent as compared 
to the plan by approximately $2 million, primarily due 
to under-spending in travel, professional & technical 
services, Trustee governance, and Fund development 
costs. Travel costs related to on-site visits were lower 
than planned because the number of applications 
received from First Nations was less than planned (8 
instead of 20). Fund staff were also able to achieve 
efficiencies in time and cost savings by holding multiple 
meetings and visits to First Nations communities and 
lenders in a single trip. In terms of professional fees, 
the Fund incurred lower salaries and benefits costs 
due to certain positions not being filled. The Fund did 
not incur fully budgeted legal fees associated with 
the appointment of new Trustees and drafting new 
investment management agreements, as both were 
delayed. Furthermore, the Fund had budgeted for an 
increase in investment management fees associated 
with increased activities under its revised SIP, which was 
not approved by the Funder in 2019. The Fund had also 
planned for consulting work related to obtaining the 
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway 
Commission (COSO) certificate, which was delayed due 
to the occurrence of the special audit  approved by the 
Minister and the decision of the Trustees to find a more 
cost-effective way to work toward the certification. 

Based on the 2019 results, up to $9 million is available 
for capacity development spending in 2020. Actual 
capacity development expenditures in any given year 
shall be approved by the Minister responsible for CMHC 
as part of the annual Business Plan. Any unexpended 
amounts at the end of 2019 may be carried forward 
to be spent on capacity development activities in 
subsequent years. 
 
During 2019, the Fund provided 57 partial loan 
guarantees to third-party lenders under the Credit 
Enhancement facility for 57 homes, bringing the 
accumulated total to 314 partial loan guarantees for 
354 homes. At December 31, 2019, the total value 
of the loans was $59.1 million, of which the Fund 
is guaranteeing a maximum of 10 percent, or $5.91 
million. An estimate of the Fund’s liability at December 
31, 2019 on this guaranteed amount of approximately 
$5.91 million is $136,827. The Fund has no history of 
any claims paid to lenders at this point. As at December 
31, 2019, there were 19   loans   in arrears ranging from 
4 to 540 days outstanding of which 4 loans totalling 

Trustee governance costs were less than planned as 
the plan was based on a full rotation of the Trustees 
with some overlap in the number of Trustees while 
training took place; however, only three new Trustees 
were appointed in October of 2019. These uncertainties 
postponed the 2019 engagement sessions planned 
under Fund development into 2020.    

Capacity development expenses were approximately $2 
million below the planned amount for a few reasons.  
As was the case in prior years, First Nations clients 
were able to access other Federal government funding 
programs for capacity development to complement 
the funding provided by the Fund.  As well, some First 
Nations did not require all the capacity development 
funds in 2019 and there were opportunities to share 
costs with the Fund on certain initiatives. There was 
also a conscious effort by the Fund to stay within 
the budget approved by the Minister for capacity 
development expenditures of $4 million per the 2019 
Business Plan. It should be noted that these CD dollars 
are not lost and remain available for capacity building 
initiatives in subsequent years.  

$420,255 were in arrears for more than 121 days. By 
comparison, 14 loans were in arrears at the end of 2018 
ranging from 15 to 420 days of which 5 loans totalling 
$779,668 were in arrears for more than 121 days.    
 
A loan is considered to be in arrears until all 
outstanding amounts are paid in full, even if partial 
payments are being made. The Fund’s estimated 
liability calculation is formula-driven which, for each 
loan in arrears, is based on the number of days it is in 
arrears and the financial strength of the First Nation 
that is guaranteeing the loan. As the liability at the 
end of 2019 ($136,827) was less than that at the end 
of 2018 ($243,968), the difference of $107,141 was 
recovered in 2019 in the Statement of Operations with 
a corresponding decrease to the liability account in the 
Statement of Financial Position. The decrease in the 
2019 liability was in response to the decrease in the 
amount of loans outstanding for more than 121 days. 
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Management’s Responsibility  
for Financial Reporting  
For the year ended 2019 
 
The First Nations Market Housing Fund management 
is responsible for the integrity and objectivity of the 
financial statements and related financial information 
presented in this annual report. The financial 
statements have been prepared in accordance with 
Canadian generally accepted accounting principles, 
and consequently include amounts which are based 
on the best estimates and judgement of management.  
The financial information contained elsewhere in this 
annual report is consistent with that in the financial 
statements. 
 
The First Nations Market Housing Fund maintains 
appropriate systems and related internal controls to 
provide reasonable assurance that financial information 
is reliable, assets are safeguarded, transactions are 
properly authorized and in accordance with relevant 
legal documents governing the Fund, resources are 
managed efficiently and economically, and operations 
are carried out effectively. 
 

Financial  
Statements

The Board of Trustees, through an Audit Committee, 
oversees management’s responsibilities for financial 
reporting and internal control systems. The Board 
of Trustees, upon the recommendation of the Audit 
Committee, has approved the financial statements. 
 
The financial statements have been audited by Ernst 
& Young LLP in accordance with Canadian generally 
accepted auditing standards. Ernst & Young has 
full access to, and meet periodically with, the Audit 
Committee to discuss their audit and related matters. 
  

 
 
 
   
 

REBUILDING LEGACIES  ANNUAL REPORT 2019

        FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Deborah Taylor   Travis Seymour 
Executive Director  CPA, CGA, MBA, CAFM
     Director, Finance and   
    Administration 
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To the Trustees of 
First Nations Market Housing Fund 

Opinion 
 
We have audited the financial statements of First 
Nations Market Housing Fund [the “Fund”], which 
comprise the statement of financial position as at 
December 31, 2019, and the statement of operations, 
statement of changes in deferred contributions and 
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and 
notes to the financial statements, including a summary 
of significant accounting policies.  

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements 
present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of the Fund as at December 31, 2019, and its 
financial performance and its cash flows for the year 
then ended in accordance with Canadian public sector 
accounting standards for government not-for-profit 
organizations.  

Basis for Opinion  

We conducted our audit in accordance with 
Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further 
described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit 
of the Financial Statements section of our report. We 
are independent of the Fund in accordance with the 
ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit 
of the financial statements in Canada, and we have 
fulfilled our ethical responsibilities in accordance with 
these requirements. 

Independent  
Auditor’s Report

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained 
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion.  
 
Responsibilities of Management and Those 
Charged with Governance for the Financial 
Statements 
 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair 
presentation of the financial statements in accordance 
with Canadian public sector accounting standards 
for government not-for-profit organizations, and for 
such internal control as management determines 
is necessary to enable the preparation of financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error.  

In preparing the financial statements, management is 
responsible for assessing the Fund’s ability to continue 
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters 
related to going concern and using the going concern 
basis of accounting unless management either intends 
to liquidate the Fund or to cease operations, or has no 
realistic alternative but to do so.  

Those charged with governance are responsible for 
overseeing the Fund’s financial reporting process. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the 
Financial Statements  

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high 

level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with Canadian generally 
accepted auditing standards will always detect a 
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements 
can arise from fraud or error and are considered 
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could 
reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial 
statements.  

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian 
generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise 
professional judgment and maintain professional 
skepticism throughout the audit. We also:  

• Identify and assess the risks of material  
 misstatement of the financial statements,  
 whether due to fraud or error, design and  
 perform audit procedures responsive to those  
 risks, and obtain audit evidence that is  
 sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis  
 for our opinion. The risk of not detecting  
 a material misstatement resulting from fraud  
 is higher than for one resulting from error,  
 as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,  
 intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or  
 the override of internal control.  

• Obtain an understanding of internal control  
 relevant to the audit in order to design audit  
 procedures that are appropriate in the  
 circumstances, but not for the purpose of  
 expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of  
 the Fund’s internal control.  

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting  
 policies used and the reasonableness of  
 accounting estimates and related disclosures  
 made by management. 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of  
 management’s use of the going concern  
 basis of accounting and, based on the audit  
 evidence obtained, whether a material  
 uncertainty exists related to events or  
 conditions that may cast significant doubt on  

 the Fund’s ability to continue as a going  
 concern. If we conclude that a material  
 uncertainty exists, we are required to draw  
 attention in our auditor’s report to the related  
 disclosures in the financial statements or, if  
 such disclosures are inadequate, to modify  
 our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the  
 audit evidence obtained up to the date of our  
 auditor’s report. However, future events or  
 conditions may cause the Fund to cease to  
 continue as a going concern.  
• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure,  
 and content of the financial statements,  
 including the disclosures, and whether  
 the financial statements represent the  
 underlying transactions and events in a manner  
 that achieves fair presentation. 

We communicate with those charged with governance 
regarding, among other matters, the planned scope 
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, 
including any significant deficiencies in internal control 
that we identify during our audit.

 

Ottawa, Canada 
March 11, 2020 

Chartered Professional Accountants
Licensed Public Accountants
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As at December 31

Statement of Financial Position Statement of Operations

Commitments and contingent liabilities [note 13]
See accompanying notes

On behalf of the Trustees: 

         John Beaucage  Maurice Biron, CPA, CGA
                Chairperson    Audit Chairperson

ASSETS 

CURRENT

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS [NOTE 3]

RESTRICTED CASH [NOTE 4]

ACCRUED INTEREST RECEIVABLE

PREPAID EXPENSES

ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS

LONG-TERM INVESTMENTS [NOTE 5]

CAPITAL ASSETS, NET [NOTE 6]

LIABILITIES

CURRENT

ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND ACCRUED LIABILITIES [NOTES 7 AND 15]

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES

CREDIT ENHANCEMENT GUARANTEE LIABILITY [NOTE 13]

CAPITAL LEASE OBLIGATIONS [NOTE 14]

DEFERRED LEASE INDUCEMENT [NOTE 8]

DEFERRED CONTRIBUTIONS [NOTE 9]

  

2018
$

41,075,543 

159,857

1,042,532 

57,135 

19,141 

42,354,208

317,801,662

287,589

360,443,459

 

1,274,289

1,274,289

243,968

35,378

101,058

358,788,766

360,443,459

Year ended December 31

Statement of Changes in Deferred Contributions

DEFERRED CONTRIBUTIONS, BEGINNING OF YEAR 

INVESTMENT INCOME  

REALIZED GAIN ON SALE OF LONG-TERM INVESTMENTS

RECOGNIZED AS REVENUE TO MATCH EXPENSES

DEFERRED CONTRIBUTIONS, END OF YEAR

2018
                         $ 

355,022,890

  10,150,530

         —

  (6,384,654)

  358,788,766

 See accompanying notes

Year ended December 31

REVENUE 

RECOGNITION OF DEFERRED CONTRIBUTIONS  

 RELATED TO CURRENT YEAR OPERATIONS

TOTAL REVENUE

EXPENSES

ADMINISTRATIVE [NOTES 6, 8, 10 AND 15]

CAPACITY DEVELOPMENT [NOTE 12] 

CREDIT ENHANCEMENT GUARANTEE (RECOVERY) [NOTE 13]

TOTAL EXPENSES

EXCESS OF REVENUE OVER EXPENSES FOR THE YEAR

2019
$

   

5,653,145

  5,653,145

  

3,726,213

2,034,073

(107,141)

5,653,145

     —     

 

 See accompanying notes

2019 
$

27,507,253

178,382

1,657,677

59,282

21,552

29,424,146

336,286,918

271,031

365,982,095

1,108,288

1,108,288

136,827

46,971

82,286

364,607,723

365,982,095

 2018
$

6,384,654

6,384,654

3,794,985

2,511,203

78,466

6,384,654

—

2019
$ 

358,788,766

10,496,273

975,829

(5,653,145)

364,607,723
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Year ended December 31

Statement of Cash Flows

2018
                         $

—

   59,379

        —

        — 

  78,466

    

 89,148

  3,765,876

  1,322,839

  5,315,708

 

 

  (206,221)

  (206,221)

(40,016,406)

        —

  49,710,890

  9,694,484

  (24,906)

  (24,906)

  14,779,065 

  26,296,478

  41,075,543

OPERATING ACTIVITIES 

EXCESS OF REVENUE OVER EXPENSES FOR THE YEAR

ADD (DEDUCT) ITEMS NOT AFFECTING CASH 

 DEPRECIATION OF CAPITAL ASSETS

 AMORTIZATION OF DEFERRED LEASE INDUCEMENT

 REALIZED GAIN ON SALE OF LONG-TERM INVESTMENTS

 CREDIT ENHANCEMENT GUARANTEE (RECOVERY)

NET CHANGE IN NON-CASH WORKING CAPITAL BALANCES 

    RELATED TO OPERATIONS [NOTE 11]

NET INCREASE IN DEFERRED CONTRIBUTIONS

NON-CASH AMORTIZATION OF PREMIUMS AND DISCOUNTS

CASH PROVIDED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES

CAPITAL ACTIVITIES

ACQUISITION OF CAPITAL ASSETS

CASH USED IN CAPITAL ACTIVITIES

INVESTING ACTIVITIES

PURCHASE OF LONG-TERM INVESTMENTS

SALE OF LONG-TERM INVESTMENTS 

MATURITY OF LONG-TERM INVESTMENTS

CASH PROVIDED BY (USED IN) INVESTING ACTIVITIES 

FINANCING ACTIVITIES 

PRINCIPAL PAYMENT UNDER CAPITAL LEASES

CASH USED IN FINANCING ACTIVITIES

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH DURING THE YEAR

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, BEGINNING OF YEAR 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, END OF YEAR

 See accompanying notes

1. Nature of operations

The First Nations Market Housing Fund [the “Fund”] was 
established on March 31, 2008 through an Indenture 
of Trust in the Province of Ontario. The purpose of the 
Fund is to facilitate the availability of financing for, and 
the accessible supply of, market-based housing in First 
Nations communities. The Fund also helps to create the 
capacity in First Nations communities to become self-
sufficient in developing and sustaining market-based 
housing, thereby contributing to the social welfare and 
civic improvement of First Nations communities and their 
residents. An over-arching goal is to move to a system 
that provides to First Nations residents the same housing 
opportunities and responsibilities in their communities as 
other Canadians. The Fund operates on a not-for-profit 
basis. The beneficiary of the Fund is Her Majesty the 
Queen in right of Canada. The Fund’s vision statement 
is that “every First Nation family has the opportunity to 
have a home on their own land in a strong community”.

On April 28, 2008, the Fund entered into the following 
agreements with Canada Mortgage and Housing 
Corporation [“CMHC”]:

•   A Funding Agreement which sets out the terms and   
     conditions for the transfer and use of a $300 million  
     contribution from the Funder [“CMHC”] on behalf of  
     the Government of Canada to the Fund. This  
     agreement provides additional direction of the  
     Fund’s not-for-profit activities, reporting obligations,  
     permitted use of funding and duties of Trustees.

•   A Management Agreement which sets out the terms  
     and conditions for the management of day-to-day  
     activities of the Fund by the Manager [“CMHC”] on  
     behalf of the Fund. The initial term of the     
     Management Agreement was for five years. The  
     term of the Management Agreement was extended  
     by agreement to March 31, 2015. No further  
     extension of the term of the Management  
     Agreement has been entered into. CMHC, however,  
     continues to provide selected management services  
     to the Fund. These services include investment  
     management services.

2. Summary of significant  
accounting policies  

These financial statements are prepared in accordance 
with the Public Sector [“PS”] Accounting Handbook 
including the use of the standards for government 
not-for-profit organizations that include sections PS 
4200 to PS 4270, which constitutes generally accepted 
accounting principles for government not-for-profit 
organizations in Canada [“GAAP”]. The significant 
accounting policies used in the preparation of these 
financial statements conform in all material respects 
with Canadian GAAP and are summarized as follows: 

Financial instruments 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognized 
when the Fund becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the financial instrument and are measured 
initially at fair value adjusted by transaction costs. 
Financial instruments are subsequently measured at 
cost or amortized cost using the effective interest 
rate method. Included in financial assets are cash and 
cash equivalents, restricted cash, accounts receivable, 
accrued interest receivable, and long-term investments. 
Included in financial liabilities are accounts payable and 
accrued liabilities, and capital lease obligations.  

Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash and short-
term, highly liquid investments with an original term to 
maturity of 98 days or less that are readily convertible 
to known amounts of cash. These funds are expected 
to be used in operations.

Cash equivalents must be rated by at least two rating 
agencies as outlined in the table below. If an issuer has 
no long-term rating, one short-term rating is required 
for investments with a term of less than one year. In 
instances where the rating agencies’ opinions differ, 
the lower of the two highest ratings available shall be 
used for the purpose of determining an instrument’s 
eligibility for investment. The fair value of cash 
equivalents is disclosed in note 3.

2019
$

—

74,238

(18,772)

(975,829)

(107,141)

(804,229)

5,818,957

681,456

4,668,680

(23,636) 

(23,636) 

(145,705,306)

112,190,423

15,324,000

(18,190,883)

(22,451)

(22,451)

(13,568,290)

41,075,543

27,507,253
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Minimum rating criteria – Term less than 365 days 

Investment  

Moody’s  

S&P  

DBRS

Long-term investments 

Long-term investments comprise cash and fixed income 
investments held for investing purposes. Transaction date 
accounting is used to record the purchase and sale of long-
term investments. Premiums and discounts are amortized 
to income using the effective interest rate method over 
the period to maturity. Gains and losses on disposal and 
impairments are recorded in income in the period incurred.

Long-term investments must be rated by at least two rating 
agencies as outlined in the table below. In instances where 
the rating agencies’ opinions differ, the lower of the two 
highest ratings available shall be used for the purpose of 
determining an instrument’s eligibility for investment. The 
fair value of long-term investments is disclosed in note 5.

Minimum rating criteria – Term greater than one year 

Investment  

Moody’s  

S&P  

DBRS 

Capital assets 

Capital assets comprise furniture and equipment and 
leasehold improvements made to the Fund’s office  
space. Capital assets are recorded at acquisition cost.  
Depreciation of furniture and equipment is provided 
on a declining balance basis over the assets’ estimated 
useful life at a rate of 20%. Depreciation of leasehold 
improvements is provided on a straight-line basis over  
the term of the lease, which is six years. 

Deferred lease inducement 

Deferred lease inducement comprises the unamortized 
portion of the reimbursement of costs incurred by 
the Fund on leasehold improvements as part of the 
lease extension agreement. Lease inducements are 
an inseparable part of the lease agreement, and 
accordingly, are accounted for as reductions of the lease 
expense over the term of the lease, which is six years.

Credit enhancement guarantees 

Under its Credit Enhancement Facility, the Fund provides 
guarantees to third-party lenders and insurers that 
repayment of financing arranged for housing in qualified 
First Nations communities will be honoured up to the 
limit of the agreed upon Credit Enhancement in the 
event that a First Nation fails to fulfill its responsibility 
for the repayment of a loan default. The Fund’s 
accumulated Credit Enhancement coverage cannot 
exceed the net worth of the Fund, with the Fund 
defining net worth as the difference between what 
the Fund owns and what it owes. As long as the Fund 
remains a going concern, the deferred contribution is  
not considered an amount owing by the Fund. 

The Fund’s credit enhancement guarantees are 
considered to be loan guarantees and as such are 
accounted for and reported as contingent liabilities. A 
provision for losses on credit enhancement guarantees 
is made when it is determined that a loss is likely, and is 
accounted for as a liability in the statement of financial 
position and in the statement of operations as an expense.  
 
The Fund’s provision for losses on credit enhancement 
guarantees is formula-driven, which for each loan in 
arrears, is based on the amount in arrears, the number 
of days it is in arrears and the financial strength of the 
First Nation that is guaranteeing the loan. The formula is 
reviewed on an annual basis. Any change in the liability 
relating to the provision for losses is recorded in the 
statement of operations. 

Included in furniture and equipment are computer 
equipment under capital leases. In case of assets 
under capital leases, expected useful lives are 
determined by reference to comparable owned assets 
or over the lease term, if shorter.

Revenue recognition 

The Fund follows the deferral method of accounting 
for contributions. Initial contribution and subsequent 
investment income are deferred and recognized as 
revenue in the period in which the related expenses 
are recognized.

Leases 

The Fund classifies leases as operating or capital 
based on the substance of the transaction at 
inception of the lease.

An operating lease is a lease in which a significant 
portion of the risks and rewards of ownership is 
retained by the lessor. Payments under an operating 
lease are recognized as an expense on a straight-line 
basis over the period of the lease. Associated costs, 
such as maintenance and insurance, are expensed  
as incurred.

Leases in which substantially all the risks and 
rewards of ownership are transferred to the lessee 
are classified as capital leases. Assets meeting 
capital lease criteria are capitalized at the lower of 
the present value of the related lease payments plus 
incidental payments or the fair value of the leased 
asset at the inception of the lease.  
 
Minimum lease payments are apportioned between 
the finance cost and the liability. The finance charge is 
recognized in income within administrative expenses 
and is allocated to each period during the lease term 
so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest 
on the remaining balance of the liability. 

Income taxes   

The Fund is accounted for as an entity that, pursuant to 
section 149 of the Income Tax Act (Canada) [the “Act”], 
is not subject to income taxes.  

Measurement uncertainty 

The preparation of these financial statements requires 
management to make estimates and assumptions that 
affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, 
and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities, at 
the date of the financial statements and the reported 
amounts of the revenues and expenses during the year. 
Items requiring the use of significant estimates include 
the credit enhancement guarantee liability as well as 
commitments and contingent liabilities.

Estimates are based on the best information available 
at the time of financial statement preparation and 
are reviewed annually to reflect new information as it 
becomes available. Measurement uncertainty exists in 
these financial statements. Actual results could differ 
from these estimates.

All investments 

P-1(A) / A3 

A-1(Low) / A- 

R-1(low) / A(low)

All investments  

Baa3  

BBB-  

BBB(low)
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Newly adopted accounting standards 
 
The Public Sector Accounting Board issued new 
accounting standards effective for fiscal years beginning 
on or after April 1, 2018. As a result, the Fund adopted 
the following new accounting standards:

•     PS 3430, Restructuring Transactions. PS 3430  
       defines a restructuring transaction and establishes  
       standards for recognizing and measuring assets and  
       liabilities transferred in a restructuring transaction.  
       The main features of the new section are as follows: 

a)   A restructuring transaction is a transfer of an  
      integrated set of assets and/or liabilities, together  
      with related program or operating responsibilities  
      without consideration based primarily on the fair  
      value of the individual assets and individual  
      liabilities transferred. 

b)   The net effect of a restructuring transaction should  
      be recognized as revenue or as an expense by  
      entities involved. 

c)    A recipient should recognize individual assets and  
      liabilities received in a restructuring transaction at  
      their carrying amount with applicable adjustments at  
      the restructuring date. 

d)   A transferor and a recipient should not restate  
      their financial position or results of operations. 

e)   A transferor and a recipient should disclose  
      sufficient information to enable users to assess  
      the nature and financial effects of a restructuring  
      transaction on their financial position and operations.

There is no impact to the financial statements upon 
transition to the new standards.
 

3. Cash and cash equivalents 
 
The following table shows the composition of cash  
and cash equivalents: 
 

Cash  

Banker’s acceptances   
  

As at December 31, 2019, the fair value of the Fund’s 
investments in banker’s acceptances was $26,906,639 
[2018 – $40,703,323]. The fair value of the Fund’s 
banker’s acceptances is determined by reference to 
published price quotations in an active market.

4. Restricted cash 

The amount recorded as restricted cash of $178,382 
[2018 – $159,857] is in reference to an escrow account 
established by the Trustees in 2018. The establishment 
of this escrow account is a condition of employment 
arrangements and secures the obligations of the Fund.

 2018 ($)

 372,220

 40,703,323

 41,075,543

As at December 31, 2019, the fair value of the Fund’s long-term investments 
was $344,747,562 [2018 – $320,465,118]. The fair value of the Fund’s long-
term investments is determined by reference to published price quotations 
in an active market.

5. Long-term investments

The following table shows the contractual maturity 
structure and average yield for the long-term investments:

Depreciation expense is included in administrative expenses in the statement of operations. 

The following tables show the composition of capital assets:

6. Capital assets

 

 

2019

COST, BEGINNING OF YEAR

ADDITIONS

DISPOSALS

COST, END OF YEAR

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION, 

    BEGINNING OF YEAR

DEPRECIATION

DISPOSALS

ACCUMULATED DEPRECATION, 

    END OF YEAR

NET BOOK VALUE

FURNITURE AND 
EQUIPMENT 

$

 

285,050

23,636

—

308,686

176,822

24,009

—

200,831

107,855

LEASEHOLD 
IMPROVEMENTS

$

408,177

—

—

408,177

261,805

26,622

—

288,427

119,750

EQUIPMENT UNDER  
CAPITAL LEASE 

$

90,787

34,044

(52,193)

72,638

57,798

23,607

(52,193)

29,212

43,426

TOTAL 
$

784,014

57,680

(52,193)

789,501

496,425

74,238

(52,193)

518,470

271,031

2019 ($) 

600,614

26,906,639

27,507,253

Within 1 year
$

24,620,054

8,661,240

— 

33,281,294

3.45%

1 to 3 years
$

23,404,378

18,090,393

25,532,739 

67,027,510

2.72%

3 to 5 years
$

37,918,344

16,513,324 

14,012,061 

68,443,729

3.03%

Over 5 years
$

104,593,824

62,940,561

— 

167,534,385

2.85%

2019
$

190,536,600

106,205,518

39,544,800 

336,286,918

2.92%

2018
$

278,056,610

—

39,745,052 

317,801,662

2.94%

 
 
 
 
Provincial bonds   
  
Corporate bonds
  
Government of 
   Canada bonds 
    
Total 
 
Yield 

2018

COST, BEGINNING OF YEAR

ADDITIONS

COST, END OF YEAR

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION, 

    BEGINNING OF YEAR

DEPRECIATION

ACCUMULATED DEPRECATION, 

    END OF YEAR

NET BOOK VALUE

FURNITURE AND 
EQUIPMENT

$

238,255

46,795

285,050

155,613

21,209

176,822

108,228

LEASEHOLD 
IMPROVEMENTS

$

248,751

159,426

408,177

248,751

13,054

261,805

146,372

EQUIPMENT UNDER 
CAPITAL LEASE 

$

90,787

—

90,787

32,682

25,116

57,798

32,989

TOTAL 
$

577,793

206,221

784,014

437,046

59,379

496,425

287,589
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7. Accounts payable and accrued 
liabilities 

The following table presents the composition of 
accounts payable and accrued liabilities:

CMHC   

Other accounts payable  
and accrued liabilities 
 

 

8. Deferred lease inducement  

The Fund received $105,751 in 2018 from the lessor of 
its office space as reimbursement of a portion of the 
leasehold improvement costs pursuant to the 2018 
lease extension agreement. This amount is deferred 
and amortized on a straight-line basis as a reduction to 
rental expenses over the term of the lease, which is six 
years. Reduction to rental expenses was $18,772  
[2018 – $4,693].

9. Capital management  
 
The Fund includes deferred contributions in the 
definition of capital. As at December 31, 2019, the 
deferred contributions were $364,607,723 [2018 – 
$358,788,766]. These contributions were primarily 
invested in long-term investments, with the balance 
being held in cash and cash equivalents to meet short-
term operating requirements.

The Fund’s objectives when managing capital are to 
minimize volatility of expected investment results and 
cash flows in order to earn sufficient returns so that 
the Fund can fulfill its objectives, maintain sufficient 
liquidity to meet business requirements as they arise 
and to preserve capital.

The deferred contributions comprise the initial 
contribution of $300 million from the Funder along with 
any investment income net of any expenses incurred 
by the Fund. The Indenture of Trust requires that any 
income, gains and accretions, after expenses, shall 
be added to this initial contribution and be devoted 
exclusively to the objectives of the Fund. The Indenture 
of Trust also requires that the Fund’s contingent and 
actual obligations under the credit enhancement facility 
not exceed the net worth of the Fund, with the Fund 
defining net worth as the difference between what the 
Fund owns and what it owes. The Fund is in compliance 
with these conditions as set out in the Indenture of Trust.  

On December 13, 2018, a revised Statement of 
Investment Policy and Investment Strategy were 
approved by the Funder, which included different 
investment ratings and instrument classes than had been 
permitted in the past. Eligible investment ratings were 
slightly lowered to allow investments in corporate bonds 
with higher yields up to a maximum of 33% of the fixed 
income portion of the Fund’s total investment portfolio. 
The addition of corporate bonds is expected to improve 
the overall yield of the Fund’s investment portfolio.

No changes were made in the objectives, policies or 
processes that were applicable for the year ended 
December 31, 2019.

10. Administrative expenses 

The following table presents the composition of 
administrative expenses.

    2018 ($)

         86,846

1,187,443

1,274,289

[a] Professional and technical services include  
 the following services: all staff [salaries and  
 fringe benefits], Investment Manager, legal,  
 audit, banking, custodial, insurance, consulting  
 and other miscellaneous services. 

[b] Trustee governance includes honoraria and  
 travel expenses for up to nine Trustees. 

[c] Business premises mainly include office rental  
 expenses and utilities. 

[d] Other expenses mainly include marketing and  
 promotion, depreciation of furniture and  
 equipment, office supplies, postage and  
 courier, contingencies, and Fund development.

The various management fees and out-of-pocket costs 
related to CMHC as discussed in note 15 are primarily 
included within the “Professional and technical 
services” account listed above.

11. Statement of cash flows 

The net change in non-cash working capital balances 
related to operations consists of the following:

Professional and  
technical services [a]

Travel

Trustee governance [b]

Business premises [c]

Computer and  
telecommunications

Other [d]

2019 ($)
 

2,437,078  
260,901 

340,846

271,993
 

176,511

238,884

3,726,213

2018 ($)

2,431,569

283,856

319,068

215,845 
 

166,730

377,917

3,794,985

Increase in restricted cash

Decrease (increase) in accrued 
interest receivable 

Increase in prepaid expenses

Increase in accounts receivable

Increase (decrease) in accounts 
payable and accrued liabilities 

Increase in deferred leased 
inducement 
 

2019 ($)
 

(18,525)

 
(615,145) 

(2,147)

(2,411)

(166,001)

 
— 

 
(804,229)

2018 ($)
 

(159,857)

86,173 

(19,281)

(19,141)

100,196

 
101,058 

89,148

12. Capacity development 

The maximum amount available for capacity 
development in any given year shall not exceed 
50% of the preceding period’s net income. For 
purposes of determining the amount of capacity 
development available, the Fund defines net income 
as investment and other income less any expenses 
incurred during the year. Any unexpended amounts 
at the end of the year can be carried forward to be 
spent in subsequent years.

Changes in funds available for capacity 
development are as follows:

Balance, beginning of year
 

Add
  Allocations during the year     
  [50% of prior year’s net income] 

Less
  Funds expensed towards  
  capacity development 

Balance, end of year, before 
additional allocation 
 

Add
  Allocations for subsequent  
  year [50% of current year’s 
  net income] 

Balance, available in  
subsequent year

2019 ($)

6,228,126

1,882,938

8,111,064

2,034,073 

6,076,991

2,909,479

8,986,470

2018 ($)

5,903,864

2,835,465

8,739,329

2,511,203 

6,228,126

 

1,882,938

8,111,064

2019 ($)

69,593

1,038,695

1,108,288
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13. Commitments and  
contingent liabilities    
Commitments 
 
The Fund leases office premises and certain computer 
equipment under long-term operating leases expiring up 
to July 31, 2024. Future minimum annual lease payments 
for the office premises over the next five years are as 
follows [see note 14 for computer equipment lease 
commitments]:

2020

2021

2022

2023

2024

$

104,321

108,400

109,857

111,897

65,273

499,748

2020

2021

2022

Total minimum lease payments 

Less amounts representing interest 

Present value of net minimum capital 
lease payments 

$

21,404

17,511

11,056

49,971

3,000 

46,971

On April 28, 2008, the Fund entered into a five-year 
Management Agreement with CMHC. The term of the 
Management Agreement was extended by agreement 
to March 31, 2015. No further extension of the term 
of the Management Agreement has been entered 
into. CMHC, however, continues to provide selected 
management services to the Fund. Pursuant to the 
current arrangement with CMHC, the Fund reimburses 
the CMHC for all reasonable actual direct, indirect and 
overhead costs it incurs. These costs include investment 
manager fees and other related out-of-pocket costs 
incurred by CMHC on behalf of the Fund. CMHC 
notified the Fund on June 6, 2019, that it would not 
be able to continue managing the Fund portfolio and 
that the Trustees should explore new management 
arrangements. The Fund initiated a process to retain 
new investment managers and expects that CMHC will 
no longer act as the Fund’s investment manager once 
the new arrangements are finalized in 2020. 

As at December 31, 2019, the Fund had entered 
into contracts with suppliers to provide capacity 
development services. The work performed by these 
suppliers to December 31, 2019 but not yet paid by 
the Fund of $309,687 [2018 – $379,481] is included 
in note 7 under “Other accounts payable and accrued 
liabilities”. The balance owing on these contracts for 
work that was not yet performed as at December 31, 
2019 is approximately $948,000 [2018 – $921,000].

As at December 31, 2019, the Fund had entered into 
contracts with consultants to provide professional 
services to the Fund. The work performed by these 
consultants to December 31, 2019 but not yet billed 
to the Fund of $121,335 [2018 – $37,230] is included 
in note 7 under “Other accounts payable and accrued 
liabilities.” The balance owing on these contracts for 
work that was not yet performed as at December 31, 
2019 is approximately $82,000 [2018 – $25,000].

Credit enhancement guarantee

As at December 31, 2019, the Fund has approved 
maximum housing loan guarantee credit to First Nation 
communities of $989 million [2018 – $964 million] 
based on an estimated 6,750 units [2018 – 6,600]. 

Since its inception, the Fund has provided guarantees 
on a total of 314 loans [2018 – 257] for 354 units 
[2018 – 297], including both single and multiunit rental 
properties, under the Credit Enhancement Facility for a 
maximum guaranteed amount of $5,905,408 [2018 – 
$4,994,475]. The amortization period of the loans ranges 
from 6 to 25 years. The First Nations have indemnified 
the Fund for any amounts that may be paid by the Fund 
to the lender under the Credit Enhancement Facility. As 
at December 31, 2019, the maximum guaranteed amount 
outstanding was $5,103,748 [2018 – $4,185,189].

An estimate of the Fund’s liability on the guaranteed 
amount of $5,103,748 in place at December 31, 2019  
[2018 – $4,185,189] is $136,827 [2018 – $243,968]. The 
Fund has no history of any claims paid to lenders at this 
point. As at December 31, 2019, there were 19 loans in 
arrears [2018 – 14 loans]. The outstanding amounts of 

loans in arrears total $2,625,433 [2018 – $2,252,771] 
and range from 4 to 540 days in arrears [2018 – 15 
to 420 days]. Of the total outstanding loans in arrears, 
four [2018 – five] loans for a total of $420,255 [2018 – 
$779,668] were in arrears for more than 121 days. As the 
liability established at the end of 2018 was $243,968, 
which is greater than the estimated liability at the end 
of 2019 of $136,827, the difference of $107,141 was 
recovered in 2019 [2018 – expense of $78,466] in the 
statement of operations with a corresponding decrease 
to the liability account in the 2019 statement of 
financial position. 

Income taxes

The Fund had discussions with the Rulings Directorate 
[“CRA Rulings”] of the Canada Revenue Agency 
[“CRA”] about its non-taxable status.  At the conclusion 
of the most recent round of discussions in 2009, 
CRA Rulings was not prepared to support the Fund’s 
position that it is non-taxable pursuant to subsection 
149(1) of the Act. 

The Fund has filed T3 Trust Income Tax and Information 
Returns [“Returns”] showing nil taxable income for 
each of 2008 – 2018. Trust Notices of Assessment and 
Reassessment [“Notices”] were received from the CRA 
indicating that the assessed taxable income and taxes 
payable were nil for each of these 11 years. The Notices 
indicate that the CRA can reassess the return at any 
time within three years of the date of the Notices if it 
finds an error during a review or audit of the return. 
The three-year time periods on the Notices for the years 
2008 – 2015 have now expired. The 2016 Notice was 
dated June 7, 2017, the 2017 Notice was dated July 25, 
2018, and the 2018 Notice was dated May 23, 2019.

The Fund plans to pursue all available avenues to 
support its position with the CRA, and the courts, 
if necessary, to ultimately determine that the Fund 
is exempt from Part I tax under the Act. Should it 
ultimately be determined that the Fund is subject to 
income tax, any income taxes owing since 2016 by 
the Fund would be approximately $4,257,000 [2018 − 
$4,075,000].

Total interest on leases for the year was $1,765  
[2018 – $2,929].

15. Related party transactions 

The Fund is related to the Government of Canada 
through the Funding Agreement, which provided the 
$300 million contribution by CMHC in 2008 as agent 
of and on behalf of the Government of Canada. The 
net equity of the Fund is consolidated annually with 
the financial results of the Government of Canada in 
the Public Accounts. 

The Fund is related to the CMHC Minister, formerly, 
through the Management Agreement, which was 
required to be approved by the CMHC Minister 
pursuant to Section 16.1 of the Indenture of Trust, 
and, currently, through the implied management 
arrangement.  

14. Capital lease obligations

The Fund leases certain computer and office equipment 
under long-term leases, which have been capitalized. 
The Fund leases printers on a five-year term, which will 
end on August 2021. The Fund also leases personal 
computers on a three-year term, which will end on 
November 2022. 

Future minimum annual lease payments over the next 
three years are as follows:
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The Fund is also related to CMHC through the Funding 
and the implied management arrangement. All 
payments to CMHC are made in the normal course of 
business, measured at the exchange amount and are 
made in accordance with the terms of the Funding and 
the implied management arrangement. 

In 2019, the Fund purchased $156,404 [2018 – 
$142,466] from CMHC related to various 2019 
management fees and reimbursed CMHC for $9,921 
[2018 – $34,668] in out-of-pocket costs. As at 
December 31, 2019, the Fund owed CMHC $69,593 
[2018 – $86,846].  

16. Financial instruments – risks and 
uncertainties 

Market risk  

Market risk is the risk of adverse financial impact 
arising from changes in underlying market factors, 
including interest rate risk and credit risk. 

Interest rate risk 

Interest rate risk relates to the impact of interest rate 
changes on the Fund’s cash flow and financial position. 
The risk arises from differences in the timing and 
amount of cash flows related to the Fund’s financial 
assets and liabilities. 

The Fund has limited exposure to interest rate risk 
given its diversification strategy, its held-to-maturity 
approach, and by purchasing fixed income securities 
using a laddered approach.

Credit risk 
 
Credit risk is the risk of loss arising from counterparty’s 
inability to fulfill its contractual obligations. Credit risk 
includes the risk of default, and encompasses both the 
probability of loss and the probable size of the loss, net 
of recoveries and collateral, over time. 

The Fund’s maximum exposure to credit risk is the 
fair value of its investments and various accounts 
receivable as well as Fund’s guarantee of loans under 
the Credit Enhancement Facility. It is management’s 
opinion that the Fund is not exposed to significant 
credit risks arising from these financial instruments. 
The Fund’s credit risk associated with investments 
is managed through the implementation of policies, 
which includes limits to the permitted investments 
and minimum credit ratings. These credit ratings 
are described in note 2.  As at December 31, 2019, 
all investments held by the Fund were issued by the 
Government of Canada, a province, a national bank, 
or a Canadian corporation.

The Fund’s credit risk associated with guarantee 
of loans under the Credit Enhancement Facility is 
mitigated through annual reviews of First Nations 
communities’ financial strength and ongoing 
communication with community leaders to ensure 
that the First Nations communities continue to be 
in compliance with terms and conditions of Credit 
Enhancement Facility agreements.

Liquidity risk  

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Fund would have 
insufficient cash flows to meet its obligations 
associated with financial liabilities. 

The Fund has a cash flow planning process in place to 
ensure sufficient resources meet current and projected 
cash requirements. Liquidity sources include cash and 
cash equivalents, accounts receivable, investment 
income and the maturity of long-term investments. 

Fund-backed home, Membertou
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The Fund was established through 
an Indenture of Trust on March 
26, 2008 between CMHC and the 
Trustees.   
 
The governance, management and operations of the 
Fund are in accordance with the terms and conditions 
of the Fund’s enabling documents. These documents 
include an Indenture of Trust and a Funding Agreement 
with CMHC. The documents were designed to protect 
both the Fund’s federal funding and the parameters put 
in place for the administration of the funding over the 
long term. The Fund received a one-time contribution 
of $300 million from the Government of Canada.  
Interest earned from investing the contribution is 
used to pay for the Fund’s administration costs and 
its Capacity Development Program. The Fund is self-
sustaining through the investment of the Government 
of Canada’s capital contribution and the reinvestment 
of a portion of its revenues.  

Nine Trustees who have been drawn from the First 
Nations community, the Government of Canada 
community and the private-sector financial community 
provide oversight to the Fund. The Minister for CMHC 
appoints six Trustees and the Minister for ISC appoints 
three Trustees.  
 

          GOVERNANCE

Governance
During 2019, three new Trustees were appointed by 
the ISC Minister and brought on board following the 
federal election in October 2019. Appointments by the 
CMHC Minister were not completed by the end of 2019.  
As a result, six Trustee appointments are outstanding. 
The six founding Trustees remain in place with all terms 
having reached their end.  
 
The Trustees are responsible for meeting the Fund’s 
objectives and ensuring prudent investment and 
safeguarding of assets, financial accountability and 
regular reporting of results. To support the Trustees 
in their responsibilities, five Board Committees have 
been established: Audit Committee; Investment 
Committee; Human Resources Committee; Operations 
Committee; and Governance Committee. Mandates and 
responsibilities have been set out for each committee.  
 
The Trustees meet face-to-face four times a year to 
review regular business and once per year for strategic 
planning purposes. The Trustees also conduct meetings 
via conference call, as required. Each year, their August 
face-to-face meeting includes meeting at one or several 
First Nations communities, while the remainder of the 
meetings are held at the Fund’s Ottawa office. 

Information is provided below regarding Trustee and 
Committee meetings in 2019:

Trustee 
Audit Committee 
Investment Committee 
Human Resources Committee 
Operations Committee 
Governance Committee

Number of 
Members 

 
6/9 
3 
2 
2 
2 
2 

Number of 
Planned Meetings* 

 
6 
4 
4 
2 
7 
7 

Number of 
Actual Meetings 

 
8 
5 
5 
6 
7 
8 

Average Number of 
Days per Meeting 

 
1.5 
.25 
.25 
.25 
.25 
.25 

Meetings

* Meetings are held face-to-face or via conference call. 

Actual expenses incurred during the year for Trustee 
governance are as follows:

A Management Agreement between CMHC and the Fund 
describes the services CMHC agreed to provide with 
respect to the management of the Fund. The initial term 
of the Management Agreement was for five years.

Expense 

Honoraria 

Travel 

Total 

2019 ($) 

$139,650 

$165,102 

$304,752 

The term of the Management Agreement was extended 
by agreement to March 31, 2015. No further extension 
of the term of the Management Agreement has been 
entered into. CMHC, however, continues to provide 
selected management services to the Fund. These 
services include investment management services. 
CMHC notified the Fund on June 6, 2019, that it would 
not be able to continue managing the Fund portfolio 
and that the Trustees should explore new management 
arrangements. The Fund initiated a process to retain 
new investment managers and expects that CMHC 
will no longer act as the Fund’s manager once the new 
arrangements are finalized in 2020.

Board of Trustees 
 
Three new Trustees joined the Board in October 2019.  
The remaining six founding Trustees were appointed to  
the Board in March 2008. 

JOHN BEAUCAGE, CHAIRPERSON       WASAUKSING FIRST NATION, ON 

RUTH WILLIAMS, VICE-CHAIRPERSON      TL’ETINQOX GOVERNMENT, B.C. 

MAURICE BIRON        GARDEN RIVER FIRST NATION, ON 

ERIC MENICOCHE        LIIDLII KUE FIRST NATION, NWT 

JIM PRODGER         N.S. 

GAIL SHAWBONQUIT        ATIKAMEKSHENG ANISHNAWBEK, ON 

PETER DINSDALE        CURVE LAKE FIRST NATION, ON 

STACY MCNEIL         SEABIRD ISLAND BAND, B.C. 

KATHLEEN BLUESKY       NISICHAWAYASIHK CREE NATION, MB

The Trustees and staff 
visit the Boy Chief Trading 
Post at Siksika, Alberta.  
Pictured left to right:  
John Beaucage, Ruth 
Williams, Jim Prodger, 
Gail Shawbonquit, Eric 
Menicoche, Jan Edmison, 
Maurice Biron, co-owner 
Darryl McDonald, Deborah 
Taylor, Travis Seymour, and 
Elder Gerald Sitting Eagle.
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          GOVERNANCE

Committee Members Fund Staff
AUDIT COMMITTEE 
 

MAURICE BIRON, CHAIRPERSON 

JIM PRODGER 

ERIC MENICOCHE 

INVESTMENT COMMITTEE 
JOHN BEAUCAGE, CHAIRPERSON 

RUTH WILLIAMS 

HUMAN RESOURCES COMMITTEE 

RUTH WILLIAMS, CHAIRPERSON 

GAIL SHAWBONQUIT 

OPERATIONS COMMITTEE 

JOHN BEAUCAGE, CHAIRPERSON 

RUTH WILLIAMS 

GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE 

JOHN BEAUCAGE, CHAIRPERSON 

RUTH WILLIAMS 

Appointment of Committee 
membership for the new Trustees 
will occur in 2020. 

The Trustees and staff visit the SRDL Business Group at Siksika, Alberta.

DEBORAH TAYLOR  EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR 

RUTH DEATCHER  DIRECTOR, PROGRAMS 

TRAVIS SEYMOUR  DIRECTOR, FINANCE/ADMINISTRATION 

JASON HASKETT  SENIOR PROGRAM OFFICER 

NANCY PINE  SENIOR PROGRAM OFFICER 

LUCILLE MICHAUD  SENIOR PROGRAM OFFICER 

JAN EDMISON   SENIOR BUSINESS ANALYST  

CARL KANJILAL  SENIOR FINANCIAL ANALYST 

MIKE BRITTON   SENIOR FINANCIAL ANALYST 

TAE KIM   SENIOR FINANCIAL ANALYST 

ALMAZ KIFLEYESUS  ANALYST 

TRACY TARNOWSKI  ADVISOR BUSINESS PROCESSES 

CRYSTAL GARROW  ADMINISTRATOR 

REBECCA DEATCHER  JUNIOR ANALYST 
A celebration party was held by the Fund’s staff to  
wish Earl Commanda all the best in his new adventures. 
Earl left the Fund after 10 years to go back home  
and take on a new position with the Robinson Huron 
Treaty Confederacy.  

The Fund staff participated in the FOOD FOR FRIENDS Christmas food and gift drive initiated by the Odawa Native Friendship Centre in 
Ottawa. Goods donated by staff included gift and stocking stuffers for boys and girls up to 15 years old. The Friendship Centre supports 
urban Indigenous families with Christmas food hampers and gifts. 

Pictured:  Carl, Nancy, Tae, Ruth, Rebecca, Mike, Tracy, Jason, Travis, Crystal, Almaz.
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          OUR LENDING PARTNERS

Our Lending  
Partners

Ontario/QuebecSaskatchewan

National

British Columbia

The First Nations Market 
Housing Fund is a Self-Sustaining 
Independent and Not-for-Profit 
Trust with Two Clear Goals:  

1. To facilitate the availability of private-sector  
 financing for First Nations while helping to  
 ensure an accessible supply of market-based  
 housing in First Nations communities; and  

2. To increase the capacity of First Nations  
 seeking to expand or develop market-based  
 housing. The Fund builds on the successes of  
 innovative communities. It is strictly optional.  
 It does not replace any existing programs.  
 Instead, the Fund works in tandem with  
 existing programs to expand market housing  
 on reserve.  

What is Market-Based Housing?  

Market-based housing is a broad term that 
encompasses private homeownership, rentals, and 
rent-to-own housing. Simply put, it means the owners 
and occupants pay for the cost of their housing 
either through rental or loan payments. Market-
based housing gives First Nations a powerful means 
to invest in their communities, and it gives First 
Nation families the ability to invest in their futures 
by building personal wealth in their homes. It also 
contributes to the sustainability of existing programs 
by providing another option and allowing funds to be 
targeted to where they are needed most.  

How the  
Fund Works

How Does the Fund Accomplish This?  

The Fund qualifies a First Nation and provides partial 
financial backing to approved lenders for housing 
loan guarantees made by the First Nation to financial 
institutions. The First Nation then uses this backing to 
negotiate an arrangement with an approved lender 
or lenders so their members can apply directly to the 
lender(s) for financing. The financing will help build, 
buy or renovate a home on reserve or settlement lands 
where appropriate, to either own or rent. Due to the 
communal nature of the land, the First Nation needs to 
guarantee the housing loans of its members. 
If a borrower defaults on an eligible loan, the lender 
will seek compensation from the First Nation. Should 
the First Nation not honour its obligation as guarantor, 
the lender will be able to turn to the Fund for 
compensation up to the amount of Credit Enhancement 
accumulated by the lender for loans made in the 
community. The Fund itself does not provide loans.  

The Fund:  
 
Supports Arrangements Between First Nations 
and Lenders  

The Fund has created an alternative form of security 
for housing loans made on reserve or settlement 
lands which will attract lenders and give First Nations 
leverage to negotiate more favourable interest rates, 
risk-sharing agreements, reduced program access 
fees, and administrative arrangements. In this way, 
people on reserve will have the same housing choices 
and opportunities as people in non-First Nations 
communities. 
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          HOW THE FUND WORKS

Respects the Communal Nature of Reserve Land  

Off reserve, lenders take land as security in exchange 
for housing loans. On reserve, land is held by the 
Crown for the benefit of the First Nations members, 
therefore it is often considered communal. Because 
lenders cannot use communal land as security, this 
has made it more difficult for First Nations members 
to obtain housing loans in their communities. The 
backing provided by the First Nations Market Housing 
Fund, in conjunction with First Nations guarantees, 
attracts lenders by offsetting the security issue while 
preserving the communal nature of reserve land.  

Increases the Capacity of First Nations  

The Fund has established a Capacity Development 
Program which provides support for First Nations 
communities that meet or are close to meeting the 
Fund’s criteria for the Credit Enhancement but have 
areas which could be strengthened or improved.  
Funding for capacity development supports the 
provision of training, advice and coaching which 
focuses on improving market-based housing  
capacity for qualified First Nations and members  
of these communities.  

Access Criteria  

Access criteria are based on principles, not rules.  
The criteria are separated into three pillars:  

• Financial Management; 
• Good Governance; and 
• Community Commitment (and Evidence of  
 Demand for Market-Based Housing). 

 
First Nations choose how best to satisfy each  
principle by demonstrating their own strengths in 
each of the pillars. 

Glossary of Terms 
 
Lease Inducement  

The negotiation of lease agreements sometimes includes 
incentives, or inducements, offered by the landlord which 
encourages the party leasing the property (lessee) to sign 
the lease. These incentives may include an up-front cash 
payment to the lessee, a rent-free period or a contribution 
to certain lessee costs such as leasehold improvements/
office fit-up costs.  
 
Held-to-Maturity Investments 
 
Held-to-maturity investments are financial assets with fixed 
or determinable payments and a fixed maturity date that 
management has the positive intention and ability to hold 
to maturity.  

Settlement Date Accounting  

Settlement date accounting refers to an accounting method 
whereby an asset, such as an investment, is recognized by 
an entity in its accounting records on the day it is received 
by the entity.  This occurs when a given transaction has 
been fulfilled, which is when performance by both parties 
has been satisfied.  

Effective Interest Rate Method  

A method for systematically moving bond discounts or 
premiums from the statement of financial position to 
interest income over the life of the investment.  

Deferral Method  

Under the deferral method of accounting for contributions, 
restricted contributions related to expenses of future 
periods are deferred and recognized as revenue in the 
period in which the related expenses are incurred.  

Fair Value  

Fair value is the amount of consideration that would be 
agreed upon in an arm’s length transaction between 
knowledgeable, willing parties under normal conditions.  
 

List of Acronyms 
 

FNMHF (“The Fund”)   First Nations Market Housing Fund 

AFOA      Aboriginal Financial Officers Association 

INAC      Indigenous and Northern Affairs Canada 

ISC     Indigenous Services Canada 

CMHC      Canada Mortgage and Housing Corporation 

AANDC     Aboriginal Affairs and Northern Development Canada 

AFN      Assembly of First Nations 

CANDO    Council for the Advancement of Native Development Officers 

 

Contact Us 
 
First Nations Market Housing Fund 
1420 Blair Towers Place, Suite 510 
Ottawa, Ontario 
K1J 9L8

Reception/Main Number 
1-866-582-2808 or 613-740-1592 
Fax 
613-740-9932 

General Inquiries 
info@fnmhf.ca 
Website 
www.fnmhf.ca 
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